

UNIVERSITY OF PADOVA

Department of General Psychology

Master's Degree Course in Cognitive Neuroscience and Clinical Neuropsychology

Final dissertation

Speech Perception in Congenitally Deaf Infants: An fNIRS Study

Supervisor:

Professor Judit Gervain

Candidate: Çağatay Bülbül Matriculation Number: 2040698

Academic Year 2023/2024

Table of Contents:

0. Abstract
1. Intoroduction5
2. Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (NIRS)
2.1 Working Principle of NIRS7
2.2 NIRS in Language Studies8
2.3 Advantages
2.4 Limitations10
3. Language Development
3.1 Linguistics and Speech Perception12
3.2 Lateralization
3.3 Prenatal and Postnatal Experience16
3.4 Developing Brain20
4. Hearing
4.1 Development of the Auditory System
4.2 Congenital Deafness
4.2.1 Structural Brain Changes in Congenital Deafness27
4.3 Neuroplasticity
5. Preterm Birth
5.1 Preterm Birth and Neonatal Intensive Care Unit
5.2 Language Development in Preterm Infants
6. The Current Study
6.1 Methods

6.1.1 Participants	
6.1.2 Design and Stimuli	
6.1.3 Procedure	
6.1.4 NIRS Data Analysis and Statistics	
6.2 Results	42
6.3 Discussion	44
6.3.1 Limitations and Future Directions	46
7. Conclusion	
8. References	

0. Abstract

This study investigates the perception of native and unfamiliar languages in deaf and normal-hearing infants using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). It is hypothesized that there are significant differences in cortical activation patterns among healthy and deaf infants when exposed to forward Italian and English speech stimuli. Participants included preterm-born infants classified into two groups based on hearing capacities: 'normal hearing' and 'deaf' due to the existent hearing ability of fetuses starting from around the 27th week of gestation. Results revealed distinct cortical activation patterns between deaf and normal-hearing infants, with the deaf group exhibiting differentiated neural mechanisms in response to auditory deprivation. Findings highlight the dynamic nature of early brain development and emphasize the importance of tailored interventions for optimizing language acquisition, particularly in vulnerable populations. By elucidating the neural mechanisms underlying language perception in infancy, this study contributes to the understanding of language development and informs evidence-based interventions for promoting cognitive development and linguistic outcomes in early childhood.

1. Intoroduction

Investigating the foundations of speech perception in infants presents a complex yet critical endeavor in understanding the nexus of auditory development and language acquisition. The journey of language acquisition begins even before birth, as infants are exposed to a symphony of sounds in utero, shaping their emerging auditory capabilities. However, this developmental process can be significantly influenced by various factors, including impaired auditory experiences encountered in utero. Deafness and preterm birth represent two distinct challenges that can disrupt the typical auditory development of infants. Deaf infants, unable to perceive auditory stimuli in the conventional sense, face unique obstacles in navigating the auditory world and acquiring language. On the other hand, preterm infants, born prematurely, often undergo auditory experiences in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU), which may differ markedly from those in utero, potentially impacting their subsequent speech perception abilities. Recent neuroimaging techniques, such as functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS), have provided unprecedented opportunities to investigate the neural underpinnings of speech perception in infants. This thesis delves into the impact of impaired auditory experiences in utero, particularly focusing on deafness and preterm birth, on postnatal speech perception capabilities. Leveraging the advanced capabilities of fNIRS, this research aims to provide a comparative analysis between deaf infants and their healthy counterparts. By employing fNIRS, it is aimed to unreveal the nuances of how early auditory deficits influence the trajectory of language acquisition and neural development associated with speech processing.

2. Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (NIRS)

Thanks to the improvement of technological methods in the mid-1990s, it is now possible to gather empirical knowledge about language abilities and their neural foundations. Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) or optical topography (OT) has emerged as a valuable neuroimaging technique in language studies, offering a unique window into the cerebral hemodynamic changes associated with linguistic processing. NIRS exploits the near-infrared range of the electromagnetic spectrum to measure changes in blood oxygenation and hemodynamics in the cortical tissue. Neurons in brain regions performing specific cognitive tasks change their metabolic needs, leading to increased cerebral blood flow and oxygen delivery, thereby reducing deoxygenated hemoglobin (Babiloni et al., 2009). In the context of language research, NIRS provides real-time information about regional cerebral oxygenation levels, allowing for the assessment of cortical activation patterns during language tasks. Moreover, functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) aims to pinpoint the brain networks involved in various behaviors by examining differences in brain activity during distinct states (Crosson et al., 2010).

When non-invasively measuring the hemodynamic response of the brain through the head, light must traverse multiple layers of biological tissue (including skin, skull, cerebrospinal fluid, etc.) before reaching the cortex, making tissue thickness a crucial parameter for determining penetration depth, accessible brain areas, and the magnitude of the obtained signal. Notably, newborns and young infants exhibit significantly thinner skin and skull compared to adults, resulting in a threefold increase in penetration from 3–5 mm to 10–15 mm into the cortex (Gervain et al., 2011). Thus, NIRS has found utility in monitoring cerebral oxygenation in neonatal studies due to the thickness of neonates' skulls. Besides, major advancements in the last decade, including the miniaturization of hardware, standardization of analysis methods, increased accessibility of hardware, and a shift towards imaging

techniques, have solidified fNIRS as a dependable and useful tool for research. (Highton et al., 2023).

2.1 Working Principle of NIRS

NIRS functions by emitting visible red and/or near-infrared light, typically between 650 and 2500 nanometers (nm), into the target tissue, such as the brain. It relies on the principle that biological tissues exhibit distinct absorption characteristics for near-infrared light. This light interacts with chromophores within the tissue, primarily hemoglobin, which has distinct absorption characteristics for different wavelengths of near-infrared light. The diffusely reflected light is then detected by optical detectors on the skin surface, and the intensity at various wavelengths is measured. Through spectroscopic analysis, the concentrations of oxygenated (OxyHb) and deoxygenated (DeoxyHb) hemoglobin are calculated, providing insights into changes in tissue oxygenation and blood flow. A surge in regional cerebral blood flow is prompted by the activation of astrocytes, as compared to neuronal activation. Consequently, a localized alteration occurs in the concentration of OxyHb andDeoxyHb in blood, both of which are principal absorbers of near-infrared (NIR) light in brain tissue. The spatial distribution of NIR light through various tissue layers forms a banana-shaped region, and achieving an optimal NIR light penetration depth, approximately half of the source-detector distance, is feasible with source-detector distances of 2-3 cm for infant head and 4-5 cm for adult head (Quaresima et al., 2012). In addition to the source-detector separation, wavelength and laser power also contribute to the quality of the NIRS signals (Gervain et al., 2011). However, the brain consistently maintains a state of dynamic equilibrium, characterized by baseline levels of measurable biochemical, electrophysiological, and cognitive elements. Any alterations in the baseline activation levels

resulting from stimulation can lead to temporal changes in one or more of these components within specific brain areas.

Changes in the concentration of hemoglobin levels are presumed to underlie the foundation of functional magnetic-resonance imaging (fMRI) blood oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) contrast. As a result, BOLD contrast is anticipated to exhibit a correlation with fNIRS measurements of OxyHb and DeoxyHb. In comparison to fMRI, fNIRS operates silently and is more tolerant to subtle movement artifacts, permitting activities such as overt speech, it can measure both OxyHb and DeoxyHb. It provides a more comprehensive evaluation of cortical hemodynamic response, it allows for long-time continuous measurements and repeated assessments within short intervals, and it boasts a higher temporal resolution, therefore, fNIRS is particularly well-suited for research involving infants (Quaresima et al., 2012).

2.2 NIRS in Language Studies

Despite its limited penetration depth, NIRS stands out as a versatile and valuable tool for non-invasive tissue assessment in scientific and medical research. Besides, due to the numerous disadvantages and inconvenience of other imaging tools in infants, the NIRS technique has become a useful and frequently used tool for studying language acquisition: the non-invasiveness, tolerance to motion, portability, real-time monitoring capabilities, safety, versatility, and accessibility of NIRS make it an ideal choice for investigating the neural underpinnings of language development in infants. Studies that used NIRS have provided valuable information about lateralization (Bortfeld et al., 2007, 2009; Gallagher et al., 2007; Gervain, 2015; Gervain et al., 2008; Kahlaoui et al., 2007; Kennan et al., 2002; May et al., 2011; Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2007, 2011a, 2011d; Obrig, 2010; Paquette et al., 2015; Peña et al., 2003; Perani et al., 2011; Quaresima et al., 2002, 2005; Sato et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; Taga et al., 2007; Taga & Asakawa, 2007; Telkemeyer et al., 2009; Watson et al., 2004; Watanabe

et al., 1998), language recognition (Peña et al., 2003; Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2002), prosodic discrimination (Grossmann et al., 2010; Homae et al., 2007; Saito et al., 2007b), linguistic sequences (Benavides-Varela & Gervain, 2017), word fluency (Matsuo et al., 2000; Quaresima et al., 2005; Watson et al., 2004; Watanabe et al., 1998), speech perception (Gervain & Mehler, 2010; Peña et al., 2003; Saito et al., 2007a, 2007b), signal processing (Zhang et al., 2017), social cognition (Blasi et al., 2007; Csibra et al., 2004; Grossmann et al., 2008; Grossmann & Johnson, 2014; Lloyd-Fox et al., 2009; Nakato et al., 2009; Otsuka et al., 2007), multi-sensory processing (Bortfeld et al., 2007, 2009; Taga & Asakawa, 2007) and cortical activation to auditory stimuli (Bortfeld et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2002; Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2011b; Sakatani et al., 1999; Taga & Asakawa, 2007; Zaramella et al., 2001).

2.3 Advantages

In language studies, neuroimaging techniques possess considerable potential in discerning and capturing cortical activities specifically associated with language processing, offering a nuanced understanding of the intricate neural dynamics involved in linguistic functions (Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2007; Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2008). In this context, NIRS brings its unique benefits by emerging as a versatile and valuable optical imaging technique, offering a multitude of advantages across diverse fields such as neuroscience, physiology, clinical medicine, and linguistic studies. (1) NIRS is non-invasive, meaning it does not require surgery or the introduction of exogenous agents, making it safer for human subjects; (2) it provides continuous and real-time measurements, allowing researchers and clinicians to observe changes in tissue parameters immediately; (3) NIRS systems are often compact and portable, enabling use in various settings, including bedside monitoring, field research, and ambulatory applications; (4) near-infrared light used in NIRS is non-ionizing and considered safe for biological tissues, making it suitable for repeated measurements without harmful effects; (5) NIRS can be applied to study various tissues and organs, including the brain, muscles, and internal organs, offering versatility in different scientific disciplines; (6) it allows for quantitative assessment of tissue oxygenation, blood volume, and other physiological parameters, providing valuable information for researchers and healthcare professionals; (7) patients typically experience minimal discomfort during NIRS measurements, contributing to better participant compliance in research studies and clinical applications; (8) NIRS can capture changes in baseline levels, providing insights into the dynamic equilibrium of biochemical, electrophysiological, and cognitive elements in tissues; (9) in contrast to some imaging techniques, NIRS operates silently, making it suitable for studying activities like overt speech without interference; (10) particularly in comparison to certain imaging modalities, NIRS offers high temporal resolution, allowing researchers to capture rapid physiological changes over short time intervals.

2.4 Limitations

The investigation of cortical hemodynamic responses to cognitive stimuli involving deep brain regions like the basal ganglia and amygdala is hindered by the limitations of fNIRS, which is restricted to the outer cortex with a typical depth sensitivity of 1.5 cm, making the separation of NIRS signals from cerebral and extracerebral tissues challenging (Gervain et al., 2011; Quaresima et al., 2012). Secondly, compared to certain imaging modalities like fMRI, NIRS generally exhibits lower spatial resolution: this might result in a limitation when it comes to precisely localizing neural activity within the brain. Researchers and clinicians using NIRS may face challenges in identifying specific brain regions with high precision, which could be crucial for certain types of studies or medical diagnoses. The absolute quantification of fNIRS measures using Continuous Wave (CW) systems is impeded by their inability to measure optical path length, requiring consideration of optical path length variations across head regions; furthermore, the wavelength dependence of optical tissue properties introduces a wavelength-dependent partial volume effect, potentially causing changes in one chromophore concentration to mimic the effects of another (Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2008). Convergence between infant and adult language studies is anticipated to be lacking due to distinct hemodynamic responses resulting from the infant's immature vascular regulation and variations in light scattering and absorption in the immature brain (Quaresima et al., 2012). The penetration depth of near-infrared light is limited, usually up to a few centimeters beneath the skin. This restricts the investigation of deeper brain structures and is a significant limitation in certain applications, as well as, the wavelength dependence of optical tissue properties can lead to a partial volume effect, making it challenging to differentiate changes in one chromophore concentration from another, particularly in complex brain regions.

3. Language Development

The exploration of speech and language processing in infants offers an intriguing insight into the cognitive and developmental mechanisms underpinning precocious language acquisition. From very early stages, infants show a natural ability for language processing, a crucial skill for the complex task of learning to speak. This early stage of language development involves quickly picking up sounds, grammar rules, and meanings from their surroundings, showing the impressive adaptability of the infant brain. Research in this area has consistently emphasized the important times when exposure to language has the most impact, revealing that even the youngest children are equipped to easily process sound patterns in language. This early ability to grasp language not only influences their immediate ability to communicate but also affects their future cognitive and language skills. Comprehending these natural language skills in infants is important not just for developmental psychology and linguistics but also for creating effective support strategies for young children exhibiting atypical language development trajectories.

3.1 Linguistics and Speech Perception

All languages adhere to hierarchical principles, established by specific rules in each language, necessitating the identification of individual words, phrases, and sentences for the decoding of speech, a process initially guided by acoustic cues during language acquisition (Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2007). During the initial stages of language learning, particularly in infancy, this decoding process is heavily guided by acoustic cues (Obrig, 2010) such as intonation, rhythm, stress, and pitch. The ability to identify and differentiate these linguistic units is a fundamental aspect of language development. Therefore, language acquisition is not only about learning a collection of words but also about mastering the intricate patterns and rules that give a language its unique structure and meaning.

Speech processing follows a sequence that begins with the acoustic analysis, encompassing both segmental (phonemic) and suprasegmental (prosodic) elements like intonation and stress, leading to lexical access, syntactic integration, and ultimately, semantic interpretation, with specific acoustic and language properties, such as temporal versus spectral details and native versus nonnative speech patterns, influencing the pattern of neural recruitment and hemispheric dominance (Best & Avery, 1999; Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2005; Gandour et al., 2002; Poeppel, 2003; Pulvermüller et al., 2005; Obrig., 2010). For instance, the phonemes specific to a person's native language are primarily processed in the left hemisphere of the auditory area, while the right hemisphere preferentially handles the processing of suprasegmentals, or nonlexical prosody (Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2007). The lateralization process for individual acoustic/phonological properties, language-specific contrasts, and other singular features may require an extended duration, reflecting the developmental shift in language perception during the initial year of life: this shift progresses from general, broad-based abilities to heightened sensitivity towards the specific characteristics of the native language, a phenomenon referred to as perceptual attunement (Gervain et al., 2011) as found the left lateralization for the short-long vowel contrast becomes prominent as the perception of the contrast undergoes refinement, transitioning from a basic acoustic difference to a phonological property relevant to the language (Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2007).

3.2 Lateralization

Lateralization research has gained prominence in the realm of linguistic studies, offering substantial insights into the anatomical underpinnings and functionality of language processing mechanisms. The human cerebral hemispheres display notable structural asymmetry. In the infant's brain, language organization is widespread and bilateral, but as age increases, it becomes more lateralized to the left hemisphere (Vandormael et al., 2019). At the

age of 3 months, speech perception becomes predominantly left-lateralized, with noticeable activity occurring in the superior temporal gyrus and the angular gyrus (Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2002). In detail, the human brain at birth presents a left temporal area dominant response to the native language (Vannasing et al., 2016), a right temporal area response to a rhythmically different language (Vannasing et al., 2016), and a bilateral temporal area response to non-linguistic stimuli (Vannasing et al., 2016; Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2010). In time, with sensory experience, all language responses in the brain shift to the left hemisphere (Vandormael et al., 2019). Structural asymmetries observed early in perisylvian regions such as the heschl gyrus, planum temporale, and superior temporal sulcus, are evident in the fetal (Dubois et al., 2008a; Dubois et al., 2010) and preterm-brain (Dubois et al., 2008b). Such asymmetry, as noted by Dubouis et al. (2010) and Dehaene-Lambertz et al. (2002), may signal functional divergence in language processing. Correspondingly, at birth, the brain shows a high degree of specialization in speech response, with activation observed in anterior temporal regions for both familiar and unfamiliar languages, but not for non-linguistic sounds (Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2010; Kotilahti et al., 2010; May et al., 2017; Vannasing et al., 2016). This indicates that newborn infants possess an innate sensitivity to certain temporal aspects of speech stimuli (Pena et al., 2003). Besides, structural MRI analyses have revealed asymmetries in the brain's left hemisphere language regions present from birth (Dubois et al., 2010). Therefore, it can be said that, in addition to its anatomical complexity, the human brain is functionally organized to language processing in the left hemisphere (Kotilahti et al., 2010; Mehler & Dupoux, 1994; Norrelgen et al., 2012; Paquette et al., 2015; Peña et al., 2003; Szaflarski et al., 2006).

Left hemisphere dominance in language processing has been shown in different studies with infants (Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2002; Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2010; Dubois et al., 2010; Gervain et al., 2008; Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2011a; Peña et al., 2003; Sato et al., 2012),

however, speech perception is not universally left-lateralized (Minagawa-Kawai et al., 2011a) because the conceptualization of language as a unilateral process is overly simplistic (Tab. 1), such as from the neonatal stage, the right hemisphere is already specialized in prosody processing (Arimitsu et al., 2011). On the one hand, Vannasing and colleagues (2016) observed neonates within the first 24 hours post-birth in a pronounced predilection for the processing of native language within the left temporal area, as opposed to the right temporal area. This finding posits that the predominance of the left hemisphere in linguistic tasks is an innate characteristic, rather than a result of linguistic acquisition through learning experiences. In contrast, responses to non-native linguistic stimuli were predominantly observed in the right temporal region, surpassing activity in the left temporal region, particularly when contrasting maternal language processing with that of a foreign tongue, as delineated in the findings by Vannasing et al. (2016). Moreover, in a study employing NIRS, Minagawa-Kawai and colleagues (2011b) explored the neural underpinnings of language processing in 4-month-old Japanese infants. This study meticulously assessed how these infants' brains responded to a spectrum of auditory stimuli: their native language (Japanese), a foreign language (English), and a range of non-linguistic sounds including emotional human voices, calls of non-human primates (monkey calls), and scrambled speech patterns. The findings revealed a pronounced activation in the left hemisphere of the brain for both the familiar (Japanese) and unfamiliar (English) linguistic stimuli, as compared to the non-speech sounds. Significantly, the brain's response was more pronounced when infants were exposed to the familiar Japanese language than to English. This differential activation suggests a heightened neural sensitivity to the phonetic and prosodic elements of the native language. Furthermore, the study illuminates the developing linguistic brain's ability to differentiate between speech and non-speech sounds, underscoring the early specialization of the left hemisphere in processing language. In contrast, May and colleagues (2017) found that

neonates showed a bilateral forward advantage when processing their native language (English) as compared to an unfamiliar language (Spanish) which is a controversial result to previous the studies mentioned above. Differences in the acoustic and phonological attributes of the languages examined might account for these discrepancies, suggesting that newborn brains are inherently geared towards processing native language speech, a specialization further refined by linguistic experiences and phonological nuances (Zhang et al., 2022). Briefly, language processing is a complex operation, and it requires different systems and hemispheres to work as a unit. Further research is needed to better understand lateralization in language.

Table 1

II				1	
Hemisnheri	c renrese	ntations	OT	ιανσμάσε	components
incluspiceri	e represe	nuclions	0, 1	ansnase	components.

Component	Definitions	Structural Aspect	Functional Aspect	LH	RH
Phonological	Related to the language sounds	Х		Х	
Morphologic	Related to morphemes - smaller meaningful units - that build up words	Х		Х	
Syntactic	Related to sentence organization	Х		Х	
Semantic	Related to the meaning of linguistic units: literal (LH) and nonliteral (RH) X X		Х	Х	
Pragmatic	Related to the interlocutors' communicative intentions		Х		Х

Note. Data from Fonseca, Scherer, Oliveira & Parente (2009).

3.3 Prenatal and Postnatal Experience

Fetuses' prenatal experience with language mainly consists of prosody, which thus becomes a fundamental guiding principle for infants' speech processing (Gervain, 2018). The developmental trajectory of human auditory perception starts substantially before birth, within the prenatal environment. This critical phase of auditory development is instrumental in shaping an infant's subsequent communicative abilities and interaction with their

surroundings. Thus, infants begin acquiring knowledge of the prosodic patterns of their native language before birth, and following delivery, they leverage this prosodic understanding to distinguish their native language from other environmental sounds and to parse the continuous speech stream into linguistically meaningful units. Hearing starts to develop around the 18th week of gestation, and the cochlea reaches its adult size by the 25th week (Bibas et al., 2007). It continues to develop until full term, and low-frequency sounds are responded by fetuses around 26th week (Hepper & Shahidullah, 1994; Smith et al., 1990), and to low-pitched sounds in the late third trimester of pregnancy (Lecanuet et al., 2000) promoting language acquisition. The initial exposure of infants to language in the womb involves a limited, low-pass filtered signal primarily conveying prosodic information (Gervain, 2018). In line with this, fetuses show various auditory abilities. They exhibit voice recognition: fetuses can discriminate their mother's voices (Kisilevsky et al., 2003) and foreign languages (Kisilevsky et al., 2009); they can discriminate between different pure tone acoustic stimuli and speech sounds (Draganova et al., 2007; Hepper & Shahidullah, 1994); they can perceive and discriminate segmented speech sounds (Groome et al., 1999), sound and rapid temporal variations in amplitude specific to speech sounds streams (Granier-Deferre et al., 2011); they can also discriminate the change in different gender sounds (Lecanuet et al., 1993). Essentially, humans come into the world with a brain structure primed to recognize speech signals and focus on the spoken expressions present in their environment (Peña et al., 2003).

Traditionally, languages are grouped into three primary rhythmic types: stress-timed languages like English and Dutch, syllable-timed languages such as Italian and French, and mora-timed languages, examples being Japanese. Understanding these distinctions is essential for establishing the basics of prenatal language acquisition. Therefore, the observable preference for specific languages in infants can often be attributed to these rhythmic patterns.

Newborn infants are capable of discerning between forward and backward speech patterns, and they also can recognize the difference between their mother tongue and foreign languages based on unique rhythmic characteristics, like the stress-timed rhythm found in languages such as English and German, in contrast to the syllable-timed rhythm typical of languages like French and Spanish (Mehler et al., 1988). Namely, neonates can discriminate rhythmically in different languages (Mehler et al., 1988; Nazzi et al., 1998; Ramus et al., 2000; Ramus, 2002) which stands to the fact that babies in the womb are exposed to language spoken in the outside world. This discrimination ability may suggest that it is based on particular properties of speech (Byers-Heinlein et al., 2010), and not applicable to just any patterned complex sound (Vouloumanos & Werker, 2007). Moreover, newborn infants can discriminate utterances in their native language from those in an unfamiliar language (Mehler et al., 1988; Moon et al., 1993) which is also evident in bilingual newborns who can discriminate between two rhythmically different languages whose mothers speak during pregnancy (Byers-Heinlein et al., 2010). Moreover, Moon and colleagues (2013) showed that newborn infants could discriminate subtle differences in sounds of the same vowel in two languages. They can discriminate between their mother's voice and the voice of other women (Fifer & Moon, 1995) and show preference for their mother's voice immediately after birth (DeCasper & Fifer, 1980). Neonates can distinguish female and male voices (DeCasper & Prescott, 1984), and different frequencies of the same words (DeCasper & Spence, 1986). They use different neural oscillations for speech and non-speech processing (Dehaene et al., 1997; Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2002; May et al., 2011; Peña et al., 2003) which is also evident in 3-months babies (Dehaene-Lambertz, 2002), and they are biased to listen to the speech compared to non-speech stimuli (Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2010; Vouloumanos & Werker, 2007).

Byers-Heinlein and colleagues (2010) revealed how prenatal exposure to language determines the preference for language after birth. Newborn bilingual infants' attention to both languages is consistent with their having learned about two languages prenatally which means, regardless of number, language preference is influenced by the language(s) heard in the womb before the birth (Byers-Heinlein et al., 2010). However, having a preference for two languages does not imply confusion between them (Byers-Heinlein et al., 2010). The second procedure in the same study showed that both English monolingual newborns and Tagalog-English bilingual newborns could discriminate between English from Tagalog. The same perceptual and learning mechanisms that support acquisition in a monolingual environment thus also naturally support bilingual acquisition (Byers-Heinlein et al., 2010). Furthermore, Lillian May and colleagues (2011), empirically demonstrated by the research conducted by using NIRS to see how prenatal language experience might shape the brain response to language in newborn infants. They tested 20 monolingual prenatally English-exposed neonates' neural responses by hearing low-pass filtered sentences of forward English (familiar language), forward Tagalog (unfamiliar language), and backward English and Tagalog (non-language). Consequently, neonates showed greater hemispheric response in forward English sentences compared to forward Tagalog ones, and they showed similar neural responses to backward English and backward Tagalog. This is the first study to use filtered speech in a neuroimaging study addressing prenatal experience in language response and provides important evidence about how prenatal experience with the language learned by a newborn in the womb influences how their brain responds to language across regions sensitive to speech processing (May et al., 2011). These results show that infants confront language already in the fetal period in the womb (Benavides-Varela et al., 2011; Gervain, 2018; May et al., 2011; May et al., 2017), however, the origins and developmental path of the

neural underpinnings associated with speech and language processing in infancy are not fully elucidated yet (Zhang et al., 2022).

3.4 Developing Brain

In the months following birth, infants experience remarkable brain maturation and developmental changes, particularly in the realms of hearing and language processing. This phase is characterized by rapid neural growth and the establishment of crucial neural pathways, facilitating the advancement from basic auditory perception to more intricate language processing skills, especially in terms of the critical period. As their sensory and cognitive systems mature, infants begin to exhibit an increased capacity for distinguishing and interpreting a wider range of auditory stimuli, a cornerstone in their linguistic and communicative development. These changes are not merely incremental; they represent significant leaps in the infant's ability to interact with and understand their environment. Starting from 4 months, infants can distinguish pitch accent patterns, and they exhibit undifferentiated responses to native language words and pure tone equivalents, indicating an early stage of primarily acoustic and nonlinguistic processing (Sato et al., 2010). In the stages of development, the brain undergoes changes in processing auditory stimuli. Grossman and colleagues (2010) presented that 4- to 7-month-old babies found increased responses in the left and right superior temporal cortex to human voice when compared to non-vocal sounds. This indicates that the brain systems sensitive to voices begin to develop between the ages of 4 and 7 months (Grossman et al., 2010). Furthermore, in their study, Zhang and colleagues (2022) have shown that neurodevelopmental changes in speech processing during the first year of life are present. Utilizing fNIRS, they investigated hemodynamic responses in the temporal cortex of seventy-eight infants at 5 and 10 months of age while they were exposed to forward speech in their native language -Dutch, and backward Dutch. They found that at 5

months of age, infants exhibit comparable auditory processing responses to both forward and backward speech, whereas by 10 months, they demonstrate the ability to differentiate between the two, displaying a more pronounced inverted left-lateralized response specifically to forward speech. This brought us to the conclusion that the alignment of infants with native speech induces a reorganization, prompting a shift from universal auditory processing to linguistic processing of speech, thereby molding specialized brain functions (Zhang et al., 2022). Another study (Peña et al., 2010) found that preterm infants at 6 months of age do not have discrimination ability to languages from the same rhythmic class as well as the full-term 3-month-old infants due to they have not attained sufficient brain maturation to recognize that the maternal language is separate from other rhythmically similar languages. Native language could be discriminated at 4 months of age (Bosh & Sebastián-Gallés, 1997; Grossman et al., 2010; Nazzi et al., 2000; Peña et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2022) because neural substrate, which refers to the underlying neural structures and pathways responsible for auditory processing, is less mature in younger groups of both full-term and preterm infants (Peña et al., 2010). This immaturity is intricately linked to heightened neuroplasticity, signifying the brain's adaptability and its capacity for experience-dependent changes. The malleability of the auditory neural substrate in younger infants suggests a dynamic process of connection refinement, potentially shaping responses to auditory stimuli based on environmental experiences. The developmental disparities observed carry profound implications for sensory processing and learning, particularly in domains crucial to language acquisition, social interaction, and broader cognitive functions (Kral et al., 2016). Briefly, at the first stages of life, the maturation of neural networks assumes a pivotal role in facilitating language acquisition. The emphasis on the period between 4 and 10 months critical period (Grossman et al., 2010; Peña et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2022) also sheds light on the potential for early detection and intervention strategies for developmental disorders. Consequently, it can be

suggested that the human brain is predisposed to prioritize and process human speech, which is crucial for language acquisition and social communication. The development of voice-sensitive regions in the during this critical period aligns with other developmental milestones in sensory and cognitive processing. This reflects the brain's remarkable ability to adapt and specialize in response to environmental stimuli, a phenomenon known as neuroplasticity. Moreover, the bilateral activation of the superior temporal cortex in response to voice, as opposed to non-vocal sounds, indicates that the processing of human speech is a complex, integrative function that engages multiple brain regions simultaneously. This complexity is integral to the development of sophisticated language skills later in life. These findings by Grossman et al. (2010), Sato et al. (2010), Peña et al. (2010), and Zhang et al. (2022) contribute to a broader understanding of the developmental trajectory of auditory processing in the brain. It highlights the period between 4 and 10 months as a crucial window for auditory-related neural development, potentially laying the foundation for future research into early interventions for speech and language disorders.

4. Hearing

Cognitive and physical development in early infancy is a complex and dynamic process. It involves a series of intricate neurobiological changes that lay the foundation for future learning and growth. In this context, it's important to understand the role of various developmental processes. In neurotypical children, ontogenetic events support the development of the brain through neurogenesis, axonal and dendritic growth, synaptogenesis, synaptic pruning, and myelination (Anderson et al., 2001). These occurrences are closely interconnected, meaning that disruptions in one specific aspect of development can lead to enduring impacts on the brain's structural and functional soundness (Grantham-McGregor et al., 2007). Alongside, the proper maturation of cognitive abilities and behaviors hinges critically on developments occurring intrauterine and in early childhood, a period where brain development is primarily characterized by the reorganization, 'fine-tuning,' or remodeling of primary circuits and networks after months of birth (Gilmore et al., 2018).

4.1 Development of the Auditory System

The development of the central nervous system for auditory processing is a complex and intricate process that plays a critical role in hearing. This system involves a network of cells, nuclei, and pathways that are responsible for the preservation and transfer of auditory information. When there is normal hearing in utero and postnatal period, the central nervous system in development allocates both space and organization structurally for the processing of auditory information that is vital for the effective handling of sound inputs (Kilgard et al., 2002). Sound waves are converted into electrical signals in the inner ear and transmitted to the brain via the auditory nerve. The ability to receive sensory information relies on the health of these specialized receptor cells, which encode physical stimuli and convert them for processing by the brain's information-processing system (Kral et al., 2016). Both animal

(Heid et al., 1997; Stakhovskaya et al., 2008) and human (Ahmed et al., 2018; Huang et al., 2002; Striem-Amit et al., 2016) studies showed that the fundamental wiring framework in the subcortical afferent auditory system which is responsible for processing and relaying auditory information from ears to the auditory cortex forms partially before the onset of hearing in utero. This early development is crucial as it lays the foundational wiring or neural pathways for auditory processing. The auditory system's basic structure and connections are formed during this period. Therefore, this fundamental wiring framework in the subcortical afferent auditory system is still maintained even in cases of deafness. When the auditory system effectively processes sound in utero, it allows for the accurate perception and interpretation of speech sounds, which is crucial for language acquisition and development, however, any disruptions or impairments in auditory processing can potentially lead to difficulties in language development, as the ability to perceive and discriminate between sounds is foundational for learning to understand and produce language. Following birth, due to auditory system requires stimulation to mature and maintains its plasticity throughout periods of profound deafness (Ponton et al., 1996), lacking auditory experiences during early growth stages impedes the functional advancement, causes a delay in the development of cortical synapses, and intensifies the elimination of these synapses later on (Kral & Sharma, 2012). This profoundly affects key central auditory functions, such as the coding of sound intensity, operation of cortical columns, spatial mapping of cochlear signals, auditory space perception, and intricate corticocortical interactions, encompassing both the hierarchical control mechanisms and the construction of auditory perceptions (Kral, 2013). Therefore, even if the auditory input is restored later in life, some aspects of the normal neural development necessary for auditory processing may have been permanently lost, making those resources no longer available for effective auditory processing (Sharma et al., 2002; Szagun, 2004).

4.2 Congenital Deafness

Congenital deafness refers specifically to hearing loss that is present at birth and it is characterized by disrupting the typical development of the auditory brain, leading to challenges in acquiring spoken language skills (Sharma & Campbell, 2011). Two out of every thousand newborns experience congenital deafness (Grégoire et al., 2022) making it the most prevalent disorder present at birth that can severely hinder the development of early communication skills because of the absence of auditory input (Dieleman et al., 2019). In typically developing infants, the ability to perceive speech sounds, the development of phonological skills, and the expansion of vocabulary are seen as fundamental cognitive-linguistic building blocks that form the foundation for later language comprehension and expression, as well as literacy (Jusczyk, 1997). Children with hearing loss experience impacts on their neurocognitive growth, affecting various areas such as hearing, language, cognition, social skills, reading and writing abilities, and overall academic performance (Fitzpatrick, 2015). Furthermore, the most evident and comprehensible consequence of congenital hearing loss is the interference with the normal process of acquiring spoken language (Fitzpatrick, 2015). Alongside, restricted access to language leads to hindered cognitive and socioemotional growth (Cheng & Mayberry, 2019), resulting in cognitive setbacks, mental health challenges, and a diminished quality of life (Hall, 2017). Further, the severity of hearing impairment significantly correlates with language skill development; children with severe hearing loss face a considerable risk of experiencing notable delays in speech and language development, which can subsequently impact their communication abilities, cognitive growth, and social development (Connor et al., 2006). In short, hearing loss, even a partial amount, leads to alterations in the brain, impacting units within the neural networks responsible for attention, cognitive control, and visual and sensorimotor regions (Wolak et al., 2019).

25

Hearing impairment varies in severity, from mild to profound levels (Tab. 2). Even though the majority of hearing loss cases are acquired later in life (Grégoire et al., 2022), the age onset influences brain function in distinct ways, highlighting the importance of sensitive periods in the development of the brain (Wolak et al., 2019). Additionally, the knowledge in the literature on hearing loss etiology influence on language outcome is limited and inconclusive. Although some studies have covered that the etiology of hearing impairment affects language outcome (Percy-Smith et al., 2013; Varga et al., 2014), strong evidence, also done in younger populations, referring the etiology of hearing impairment has an inconsiderable effect on language outcome do exist (Dieleman et al., 2019; Miyagawa et al., 2016; Nikolopoulos et al., 2006; Philips et al., 2014).

Table 2

Congenital	Present at or very shortly after birth
Delayed-onset	Develops postnatally; cannot be attributed to an exogenous cause
Acquired	Develops postnatally; attributable to an exogenous cause
Early-onset	Develops within 3 months of birth
Prelingual	Develops before language is well established (<3 years of age)
Progressive	The auditory thresholds decline as time progresses.
Mild	PTA average (500, 1000, 2000 kHz) 20–40 dB HL
Moderate	PTA average 41–55 dB HL
Moderately severe	PTA average 56–70 dB HL
Severe	PTA average 71–90 dB HL
Profound	PTA >90 dB HL

Definitions of hearing loss characteristics

Note. Data from Fitzpatrick (2015). Pure-tone average (PTA), and hearing level (HL).

4.2.1 Structural Brain Changes in Congenital Deafness

Reduced volume of white matter or lower fractional anisotropy in the auditory regions, typically observed in individuals deaf from birth, and structural changes in the frontal, visual, and other brain areas, including the cerebellum, are likely due to cross-modal plasticity resulting from the absence of sound input and the use of sign language instead of spoken language (see review of Hribar et al., 2020). Cross-modal plasticity refers to auditory cortical areas that are deprived of sound input and begin to process signals from other senses, such as vision and touch (Allman et al., 2009; Campbell and Sharma, 2014; Petitto et al., 2000). Yet, cross-modal reorganization might not always be beneficial and does not guarantee an enhancement of the dominant visual sense (Deroche et al., 2023). In their systematic review, Simon and colleagues (2020) identified key features of structural plasticity in congenitally or prelingually deaf individuals by examining cerebral changes in the gray and white matter by providing an up-to-date synthesis with a focus on structural changes with the following neuroimaging techniques using magnetic-resonance imaging (MRI): volumetry, voxel-based morphometry, tensor-based morphometry, cortical thickness, diffusion tensor imaging, and diffusion kurtosis imaging within 27 cross-sectional studies published between 2003 and 2017 that were selected that describe the structural changes reported in 626 individuals with a moderate-to-profound bilateral deafness, including 254 children and adolescents. They concluded by homogeneous results the primary auditory cortex (heschl's gyrus) bilaterally which is related to processing speech sounds, the secondary auditory cortex (planum-polare and planum-temporale), and the bilateral superior temporal gyrus showed a significant decrease in white matter volume and density as well as reduced fractional anisotropy. The superior temporal gyrus is frequently linked to structural changes observed in individuals who are deaf, making it the brain region most commonly associated with such modifications (Simon et al., 2020). Early absence of auditory stimulation leads to reduced myelination in

these areas. Attenuation in white matter volume and fractional anisotropy in the inferior frontal gyrus of the left hemisphere were also reported. In sum, they suggested significant changes in the main cortical and subcortical structures implicated in auditory processing, language-related areas that appear to be present from an early age and have long-lasting effects. In addition, Zhang and colleagues in 2015 heightened regional susceptibility in the superior temporal sulcus and cingulate areas, accompanied by an abnormal asymmetry in the right hemisphere in preterm-born children. In their meta-analysis study, Grégoire and colleagues (2022) showed that severe to profound deafness induces modifications of both brain white matter and gray matter characteristics mainly but not limited to the temporal lobe even though one-third of the studies did not find any significant modifications in brain anatomy. Hence, they concluded that the type and timing of language acquisition play a crucial role in shaping brain structure and function, with early language exposure being essential for the normal development of language areas in the brain, especially in the white matter bundles. Collectively, the changes in these white matter bundles might result from the lack of exposure to spoken language, the use of sign language, or possibly from early language deprivation in instances where there is a delayed diagnosis of deafness (Grégoire et al., 2022). These studies collectively highlight a crucial neural plasticity, particularly in the brain's auditory and language-processing regions. The consistent findings of reduced white matter volume and altered myelination patterns in key areas such as the superior temporal gyrus and primary auditory cortex underscore the profound impact of sensory deprivation on brain structure.

These changes are not only confined to the auditory regions but also extend to language-related areas, indicating the intricate relationship between sensory experience and brain development. The findings highlight the critical importance of early language exposure, whether auditory or through sign language, in shaping the brain's structural and functional development. Briefly, neurosensory prosthetics have the potential to alleviate the impacts of sensory loss by restoring aspects of sensory function, yet the consequences of such loss extend significantly beyond the sensory system and its related brain functions, profoundly affecting central neurological and higher-order neurocognitive functioning (Kral et al., 2016). Therefore, understanding the dynamics of synaptic plasticity in the juvenile brain, and how the auditory system develops and is preserved in deafness are essential for fostering optimal cognitive and sensory growth during early childhood, and the neural basis of hearing and deafness.

4.3 Neuroplasticity

All members of a species have evolved to anticipate distinct environmental states and are inherently predisposed to develop various phenotypes in response to diverse environmental or somatic conditions, and this principle extends to developmental mechanisms, which are evolutionarily primed to generate continuous phenotypic variation, exemplified by adaptive calibration of maturation rates into nutritional conditions (Frankenhuis & Walasek, 2020). When engaged in auditory processing, the brain undertakes dual functions: initially, it analyzes sound by breaking it down into acoustic features, highlighting those crucial for distinguishing biologically significant sounds; subsequently, it categorizes these fundamental acoustic features into a resilient representation, forming an auditory object capable of withstanding the inherent variability within the sensory environment (Kral & Sharma, 2012). The juvenile brain quickly adjusts to its environment, making it particularly vulnerable to the loss of sensory input (Hübener & Bonhoeffer, 2014; Whiteus et al., 2013). The auditory system requires stimulation for maturation and retains its plasticity during profound deafness, while the reception of sensory information is contingent on the health of specialized receptor cells; furthermore, brain development, being a self-organizing process, means the development of the connectome heavily relies on sensory experiences, making sensory loss akin to a connectome disorder like neurocognitive effects (Kral et al., 2016). For these reasons, auditory sensation and brain development in infants, the concept of neural plasticity, and its implications during sensitive periods are particularly significant. It is suggested that multiple sensitive periods exist during the development of the human auditory system, each pertaining to different language aspects such as auditory processing, phonetics, phonology, syntax, and semantics (Lenneberg, 1967; Ruben, 1997). During these sensitive periods (Kral et al., 2001), infants' brains are remarkably adapting to auditory stimuli, allowing for the efficient formation of synaptic connections related to hearing and sound interpretation because the juvenile brain exhibits a heightened capacity for plastic reorganization (Nakahara et al., 2004; Sale et al., 2009) a phenomenon largely attributed to developmental changes in the molecular machinery of synaptic plasticity (Morishita & Hensch, 2008; van Zundert et al., 2004) likely to support development that is fine-tuned through experience (Kral et al., 2016). The critical periods of early infancy, a time marked by increased plasticity, are pivotal for auditory processing and language development, as the brain's maturation and cognitive functioning are significantly shaped by varied and rich auditory experiences, which leave lasting imprints on neural pathways within this specific timeframe (Eggermont & Ponton, 2003; Mayberry et al., 2002). Conversely, a lack of adequate auditory stimulation can lead to underdevelopment in these neural pathways. Unless hearing technology is provided within the early stages of life, most children with congenital hearing loss will not have the opportunity to access speech fully, which is crucial during the foundational period for language learning (Fitzpatrick, 2015). Fortunately, some interventions can provide sensory input to a system that is structurally ready to process auditory information, even if it has never been used for hearing before (Gilley et al., 2008; Hartmann et al., 1997; Raggio & Schreiner, 1999). Despite the presence of congenital deafness, the preservation of the subcortical

auditory system (Ahmed et al., 2018; Huang et al., 2002; Striem-Amit et al., 2016), which may not be well-preserved as well (McBride et al., 2013; Tong et al., 2015), often enables individuals to perceive sound through direct stimulation of the auditory nerve also known as cochlear, enabling the brain to perceive sound (Kral & Sharma, 2012). Cochlear stimulation is facilitated through medical devices called cochlear implants. When auditory input is restored later in life, some aspects of the neural organization that develop normally may be irretrievably lost, rendering the necessary resources for auditory processing inaccessible (Sharma et al., 2002). At this point, early intervention of cochlear implantation is highly critical to restoring hearing to normal levels (Schauwers et al., 2004), and it brings better outcomes (Anderson et al., 2004; Edwards et al., 2006; Govaerts et al., 2002; Quittner et al., 2004; Truy et al., 1998; Yoshinaga-Itano, 2003; Zwolan et al., 2004). Loss of cochlear cells before the initiation of auditory function can potentially lead to the demise of subsequent auditory neurons in the brainstem (McBride et al., 2013; Tong et al., 2015). Hence, the timing of cochlear impairments during fetal development could significantly impact the functional integrity of auditory pathways, and consequently, affect higher-order brain systems and functions that depend on this sensory input (Kral et al., 2016; Sharma et al., 2002).

Early cochlear implantation has potential to reinstate the sense of hearing (Lima et al., 2023; Niparko, 2010), thus, congenital deafness does not anymore lead to abnormal hearing or abnormal speech development, and this early intervention leads to typical development in speech and language skills and allows for seamless integration into standard educational settings (Fulcher et al., 2012; Govaerts et al., 2002; Leigh et al., 2013; Schauwers et al., 2004; Sharma et al., 2002) with the characteristics and quality of the intervention, the level of support from the family, the timeliness of intervention, and the effectiveness of hearing aid fitting, comorbidity, as well as the degree of hearing impairment (Bubbico et al., 2007; Chiossi & Hyppolito, 2017; Dieleman et al., 2019; Schauwers et al., 2004; Sharma et al.,

2002; Vohr et al., 2008). Sensory impairments result in neurocognitive impairments (Conway et al., 2009; Kronenberger et al., 2013; Kral et al., 2016) that are still present in cochlear-implanted children even though they can develop auditory and linguistic skills and learn alongside their healthy peers (see systematic review of Lima and colleagues, 2023). In contrast, there are still significant variations in individual language outcomes among children who have a cochlear implant (Dieleman et al., 2019). Prelingually deaf children often show remarkable success in learning spoken language when they receive a cochlear implant early in childhood, particularly when they are immersed in rich language environments and receive strong support from dedicated parents and caregivers (Svirsky et al., 2004; Robbins et al., 2004), and in auditory, cortical, and social abilities as well (Sharma et al., 2002). However, those who receive cochlear implants later in life can perceive auditory stimuli, yet they often struggle to accurately distinguish complex sounds in everyday situations even after many years of using the implant (Kral & O'Donoghue, 2010; Kral & Sharma, 2012).

5. Preterm Birth

As mentioned earlier, the ontogenesis of the human auditory system represents a paradigm of intricate biological and neurological orchestration, initiating substantially before an individual's birth. This sophisticated developmental trajectory originates within the womb's protective confines, laying the foundational framework for sound perception and interpretation. The gestational maturation of the auditory system holds substantial implications for our comprehension of language acquisition, sensory processing, and cognitive development. The criticality of this developmental journey is further underscored when examining the challenges encountered by preterm infants, whose premature entry into the external environment disrupts the natural progression of sensory system maturation. This chapter aims to delve into the intricate process of auditory development from its inception during gestation, emphasizing key developmental milestones and the potential ramifications of premature birth on this vital aspect of human development especially for processing language.

5.1 Preterm Birth and Neonatal Intensive Care Unit

In typical development, a fetus is exposed to various sensory stimulations that aid in the development of body organs and the neural system, resulting in neuronal migration and maturation, dendritic growth, synapse formation, and the establishment of neural networks. This process, known as probabilistic epigenesis, plays a key role in the organization and development of different systems (Gottlieb, 2007). Premature birth disrupts these natural developmental processes that are marked by varying speeds of growth and distinct connections between skills (Sansavini et al., 2013), which may lead to development delays in language skills, sensory integration, motor delays, overall cognitive impairment, visual perception issues, deficits in executive functioning, learning challenges (Delobel-Ayoub et al.,

2009; Johnson & Marlow, 2016), and behavioral and attention difficulties (Linsell et al., 2016; Wilson-Ching et al., 2013). Cognitive development compels the brain and body of the preterm infant to adjust to an artificial setting, such as the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU). This crucial developmental phase, where they would normally be exposed to sounds in the womb, is marked by their deprivation of these intrauterine auditory experiences that may significantly impact the maturation of the auditory brain and consequently affect the development of speech and language (McMahon et al., 2012). While preterm babies in the NICU lack exposure to maternal sounds, they are not completely deprived of auditory experiences, as the type of sound stimulation they receive is influenced by the unique environment of their specific NICU, contrasting with the uniform auditory environment experienced in the womb (Vandormael et al., 2019). In this exceptional environment, the newborn experiences both under-stimulation (due to the absence of prenatal rhythmic and kinesthetic stimulations, continuous maternal contact, and restrictions imposed by the incubator and medical care) and over-stimulation due to the high-frequency noises typical of the machines and other equipment used at the NICU (Als et al., 2004; Anand & Scalzo, 2000). Nevertheless, infants who stay in a developmental care unit with high-quality standards, characterized by more effective infant pain management, enhanced regulation of external stimuli, and increased parental involvement, exhibit superior receptive language skills compared to those in units with lower-quality care (Montirosso et al., 2016). Moreover, even though the vast majority of studies emphasize on negative outcomes of premature birth, several studies showed that preterm infants may not be delayed in certain discrimination tasks (Mahmoudzadeh et al., 2013; Nishida et al., 2008; Peña et al., 2014; Saito et al., 2009). Yet, the specific short- and long-term adverse effects of hospital stimuli on infants, the optimal amount and type of auditory stimulation for language and social development, are still not clear (Philbin, 2017).

5.2 Language Development in Preterm Infants

Before the development of language understanding and speech, the auditory system begins its formation, starting early in the gestational period. By the 23rd to 25th weeks of pregnancy, crucial parts of the auditory system, like the cochlea, are already established. Post the 26th week of gestation, the cochlea's hair cells start to specialize for particular frequency ranges, transforming sound waves into electrical signals. These signals are then transmitted to the brain's auditory cortex via the auditory nerve. Consequently, from the 26th to the 30th week, the fetus becomes capable of perceiving and responding to auditory stimuli (Hepper & Shahidullah, 1994; Gagnon et al., 1987). The frequencies detected in the womb are arranged tonotopically, mirroring the distribution on the cochlea's basilar membrane. This makes the uterus an ideal environment for the maturation of the auditory system, as it serves as a low-pass filter. This filtering shields the developing hair cells from potentially damaging high-pitched sounds. Concurrently, the high-frequency areas on the membrane develop, enabling the fetus to perceive aspects of human speech like intonation, pitch, and intensity. The ability to perceive these higher frequencies (above 2kHz) is crucial for later language processing. Finally, by the 30th week of gestation, the auditory system has matured enough to discern complex sounds and differentiate various phonemes in speech (McMahon et al., 2012). The progression of language abilities in the human brain is a nuanced and dynamic process, which involves a pivotal transition from rapid developmental phases to a period of maturation. As elucidated by Scheinost et al. (2021), this transition becomes notably evident after the 30th week of gestation. It is during this phase that the functional connectivity between key language areas, specifically Broca's and Wernicke's areas, starts to intensify, signaling a shift from rapid growth to more refined maturation of these regions. However, the evolution of language skills extends beyond the maturation of these specific areas. Déak (2014) highlights the integral role of fundamental cognitive functions, including memory, processing speed, and attention, in the development of language. These cognitive processes are crucial for the efficient acquisition and utilization of language skills. Therefore, the maturation of the brain as a whole plays a more significant role in language development than the isolated development of language-specific areas. This comprehensive maturation phase reflects a broader slowdown in developmental pace, paving the way for a more integrated and sophisticated neural functioning that underpins language abilities. For these reasons, it is not possible to consider only auditory systems' development for language abilities in infants. Moving on, gestational age serves as a robust predictor of future neurodevelopmental outcomes in very preterm infants compared to their birth weight (Woodward et al., 2006). It is crucial to emphasize the role of gestational age in forecasting future language development among premature infants, as there exists a distinct and direct correlation between the age of gestation at birth and subsequent language abilities (Foster-Cohen et al., 2007).

Preterm-born children use fewer bound morphemes, fewer irregular and over-regularized forms, and shorter utterances; they have lower vocabulary sizes, lower syntactic development, and are less likely to combine words and decontextualized word use (Foster-Cohen et al., 2007). They are at risk of linguistic disorders in their first years of life, slower than full-term children in language acquisition (Capobianco & Cerniglia 2017), and presenting social communication problems (Barre et al., 2011; Carter & Msall, 2017). Preterm children perform worse than full-term born children in both simple and complex language functions (van Noort-van der Spek et al., 2012). For detailed language impairments in preterm infants, the reader is referred to the longitudinal study of Foster-Cohen and colleagues in 2007, the meta-analysis study by van Noort-van der Spek and colleagues in 2012, and to get a broader understanding of early and long-term outcomes of infants born preterm, review of Johnson & Marlow in 2016.
6. The Current Study

In light of the above, it is sought to investigate how deaf and normal hearing infants perceive their native language and an unfamiliar language, and whether they can discriminate between them -a task that typically developing infants succeed on already at birth. It is hypothesized that there would be significant differences in cortical activation patterns, as measured by fNIRS, among healthy infants, and deaf infants when exposed to forward Italian speech and forward English speech. These differences will reflect variations in speech perception abilities and compensatory neural mechanisms. Given the onset of auditory function in utero, preterm-born infants were involved in two experimental groups based on their hearing capacities: 'normal hearing' and 'deaf.' Despite their premature birth, preterm infants possess early hearing abilities, although these may manifest differently compared to full-term infants. This classification allows for a detailed exploration of auditory processing during early developmental stages. Specifically, it is hypothesized that deaf infants will show different patterns of brain activation compared to healthy infants, indicating altered neural pathways for processing speech due to their developmental and sensory differences. Healthy infants are expected to exhibit left-temporal brain activation in response to forward Italian speech, more right-temporal activation in response to forward English speech as a rhythmically different language, and bilateral-temporal areas activation when exposed to non-linguistic stimuli (backward speech). Deaf infants are expected to exhibit reduced or different patterns of activation in the traditional language areas due to their auditory deprivation, potentially showing greater activation in visual or somatosensory cortices as a compensatory mechanism.

6.1 Methods

6.1.1 Participants

Data from a total of 19 infants (aged from 9 to 266 days postnatal, M = 131 days) were included in the experiments. A group of infants with congenital moderate-to-severe deafness (full-term N = 5, testing age M = 124 days; prematurity N = 2 of which 1 extremely, 1 moderately preterm-born, postnatal testing age M = 100), and a control group with normal hearing (full-term N = 10, M = 136; prematurity N = 2 of which 1 very, 1 moderately preterm-born, postnatal testing age M = 130) with APGAR score of 7+ at birth, and 8+ 5 minutes after birth were tested. According to parental report, all infants were exposed to Italian 100% of the time in utero and had no exposure to English. An additional 48 infants were tested but were excluded from analysis due to fussiness, unilateral hearing loss, insufficient data, machine/computer errors, or exposure to languages other than Italian prenatally.

The data was collected by Gaia Lucarini and Caroline Nallet (DPSS) as part of a larger study investigating basic speech perception abilities in deaf and cochlear-implanted infants.

6.1.2 Design and Stimuli

A female native speaker of each language (Italian, English) for a total of 4 conditions that are Italian-Forward (ITFwd), Italian-Backward (ITBwd), English-Forward (ENGFwd), and English-Backward (ENGBwd) was recorded reading aloud from the children's book *The Paper Bag Princess and The Three Wishes*. Backward speech, created using the software Praat, for both Italian and English is considered a non-linguistic control that matches forward speech in both intensity and pitch but is distinctly non-linguistic, as humans are unable to produce backward speech (Gervain et al., 2011; Peña et al., 2003) which contains sounds that cannot be produced by the human vocal tract (May et al., 2017) and it is in general unintelligible. The sentences in each of the four conditions were presented in a simple block design (Fig. 1*B*), with the order of blocks pseudorandomized and counterbalanced across subjects. The sentences in the two languages and the two orders of presentation (forward and backward) have been matched in intensity and duration. The study was divided into 2 halves (Fig. 1*A*), each composed of 24 blocks for each condition such that even if infants fussed out before reaching the end of the study, they would provide data in each condition.

Figure 1

Study Design



Note. (A) Blocks also were spaced at time intervals of varying duration (15s-18s) to avoid inducing phase-locked brain responses. The 16 blocks were presented in an interleaved fashion in such a way as to disallow more than two consecutive blocks of the same type. The order of the blocks was pseudorandomized and counterbalanced across subjects. (B) Within blocks, sentences were separated by pauses of varying length (0.2-sec.–0.4-sec.), yielding blocks of about 2.6-sec.

6.1.3 Procedure

A NIRSport2 fNIRS machine with a source-detector separation of 3 cm and two continuous wavelengths of 695 and 830 nm was used, with a sampling rate of 20.345hz. A stretchy cap with embedded optical sensors was positioned on the infants' heads using surface landmarks (Fig. 2), specifically the nasion and preauricular points, with a focus on targeting the language-related areas within the bilateral temporal, frontal, and parietal areas. These regions constitute the language network (Dehaene-Lambertz et al., 2002; Dehaene-Lambertz et al.,

2006; Frederici, 2002; Frederici et al., 2006; Gervain et al., 2008). The playback and control of the stimuli were managed by a Dell laptop computer, which also operated the NIRS machine. Infants were tested in a silent, sound attenuated room at the University of Padua Hospital, and in BabyLab at the University of Padua. Younger infants were asleep during the study, while older infants were seated on their parent's lap and exposed to muted cartoon series on a screen positioned around 80 cm from the infants (Fig. 3) using E-Prime software.

Figure 2 and Figure 3

Infants wearing a stretchy head cap of NIRSport2 and sitting on their parent's lap



Note. Infants were tested while watching muted cartoon series and hearing speech conditions. The pictures are taken before and during testing at BabyLab at the University of Padova.

The optical probe was placed on the infant's head, as shown in Fig. 4. In cases where infants lost attention, a researcher positioned discreetly behind the computer screen introduced quiet toys to re-engage their attention. This standardized procedure was consistently followed across all study groups.

Figure 4 Cortical Regions



Note. The cortical regions underlying NIRS channels overlaid on a schematic infant brain. Although individual variation cannot be excluded, this placement ensured recording from frontal, frontotemporal, and frontoparietal brain regions. The locations were projected down onto the cortical surface to identify the regions underlying the NIRS channels for each infant. A channel was then labeled according to the localization found in the majority of participants. Accordingly, channels 1, 2, 4, 5 in the left hemisphere (LH), and 13, 14, 15, and 16 in the right hemisphere (RH) query the frontal lobe, channels 3 in the LH and 17 in the RH are positioned over the temporal lobe, channels 10, 12 in the LH and 20, 23 in the RH are parietal, whereas channels 6, 7, 9, 18, 19, and 21 span two lobes.

6.1.4 NIRS Data Analysis and Statistics

The NIRS machine measured the intensity of the transmitted light, from which concentration changes of oxygenated hemoglobin (OxyHb) and deoxygenated hemoglobin (DeoxyHb) were calculated using the modified Beer-Lambert Law. To eliminate noise (e.g., heartbeat) and overall trends, the data were band pass-filtered between 0.01–0.7 Hz. Movement artifacts, defined as concentration changes above 0.1 mmol*mm over 0.2 sec were removed by rejecting block-channel pairs in which artifacts occurred. For the valid non-rejected blocks, a baseline was linearly fitted between the means of the 5 sec preceding the onset of the block and the 5 sec starting approximately 21 sec after the onset of the block. Following bandpass filtering and artifact removal, the mean concentrations of oxyHb and deoxyHb across all blocks for each condition within the 21-second stimulation period (11-second stimulation + 10-second return to baseline relaxation period) were computed. The 20 channels based on

hemisphere (LH vs. RH) and region of interest (ROI; Temporal vs. Parietal regions), comparing activations for the four conditions within these broadly defined brain areas were categorized. Thus, the left temporal ROI encompassed channels 3 and 6, the right temporal ROI channels 17 and 19, the left parietal ROI channels 9 and 12, and the right parietal ROI channels 21 and 23.

To compare how infants process the different conditions, an analysis of variance test (ANOVA) of the within-subject factors Condition (ITFwd/ITBwd/ENGFwd/ENGBwd), Hemisphere (LH/RH), and Region of Interest (Temporal/Parietal), and the between-subject factor Group (Normal-hearing/Deaf) over OxyHb and DeoxyHb was conducted, separately.

Given that it is inconclusive in the literature how the etiology of deafness may impact language development and because our sample was relatively small, the etiology of hearing impairment in the statistical testing of the current study was not considered.

6.2 Results

The resulting grand averages of the two groups, deaf and normal-hearing infants, are sequentially shown in Fig. 5 and Fig. 6.

The data analysis concentrated on the variable of OxyHb due to its established significance as the most robust indicator of neural activity in infants, as highlighted in studies by Aslin (2013), Gervain et al. (2011), and Lloyd-Fox et al. (2010). The ANOVA with the within-subject factors Condition (ITFwd/ITBwd/ENGFwd/ENGBwd) x Hemisphere (LH/RH) x Region of Interest (Temporal/Parietal), and the between-subject factor Group (Normal-hearing/Deaf) over OxyHb yielded a significant interaction between Condition and Group [F(2, 43) = 3.007; P = 0.048] due to a large negative, i.e. inverted response in the deaf group to ENGFwd, and a large positive, i.e. canonical response to ITABwd in the normal hearing group. No other statistically significant results were found.

A similar ANOVA utilizing the factors Speech (ITFwd/ITBwd/ENGFwd/ENGBwd) x Hemisphere (LH/RH) x ROI (Temporal/Parietal) over deoxyHb concentrations found a statistically significant [F = (3, 46) = 3.004; P = 0.045] due to greater activation in the control group over the right parietal area for ENGBwd speech than in the experimental group. No other significant results have been found for DeoxyHb.

Figure 5

Grand Average of Oxygenated Hemoglobin Changes in the Experiment Group



Note. The grand average results of oxygenated hemoglobin for the congenitally deaf group in response speech and non-linguistic speech stimuli. Channels are plotted following the same placement as in Fig. 4. The x-axis depicts time measured in seconds, while the y-axis displays concentration measured in mmol-mm. A rectangular segment along the horizontal axis denotes the duration of stimulation. The solid red lines on the graphs illustrate the levels of oxyHb concentration in reaction to the Italian-Forward speech, pink lines to the Italian-Backward speech, blue lines to the English-Forward speech, and turquoise to the English-Backward speech.

Figure 6

Grand Average of Oxygenated Hemoglobin Changes in the Control Group



Note. The grand average results of oxygenated hemoglobin for the normal hearing group in response to speech and non-linguistic speech stimuli. See the explanations in Fig. 5.

6.3 Discussion

This study aimed to investigate the neural correlates of the perception and discrimination of the native language and a rhythmically different unfamiliar language in deaf and normal-hearing infants. Using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS), it was hypothesized that there exist significant differences in cortical activation patterns between among healthy and deaf infants exposed to forward and Italian and English speech stimuli. Our findings offer insights into early language perception and the impact of auditory deprivation on neural processing mechanisms during infancy. No significantly greater response has been found to ITFwd speech in the healthy group than in the deaf group, as hypothesized. In contrast, consistent with the hypothesis, significant differences in cortical activation patterns between deaf and normal-hearing infants were observed. Notably, the deaf infants exhibited a distinct pattern of brain activation characterized by a large negative response to ENGFwd speech and a large positive response to ITBwd speech. This inverted response in the deaf group, different from the response patterns of the typical group has two implications. First, it shows discrimination between some of the language conditions, suggesting that deaf infants have more residual perceptual sensitivities than previously believed.

Second, these results suggest altered neural processing mechanisms in response to linguistic stimuli due to auditory deprivation, and hemispheric interaction could be lower as decreased RH activity is seen when a rhythmically different language is perceived than in normal-hearing peers.

Our findings support the notion that auditory deprivation in deaf infants leads to adaptive changes in cortical organization and speech-processing pathways. The different patterns of activation observed in traditional language areas among deaf infants may indicate a reorganization of neural networks to accommodate alternative sensory modalities, such as visual or somatosensory inputs, as compensatory mechanisms for language processing. By elucidating the differences in neural processing mechanisms between deaf and normal-hearing infants, our study provides insights into the dynamic nature of early brain development and the plasticity of the infant brain. These findings have important implications for our understanding of developmental neuroscience and the plasticity of the infant brain, highlight the dynamic nature of neural development, and underscore the importance of early intervention strategies for infants with hearing impairments to optimize language acquisition and cognitive development. Therefore, early implantation during a critical sensitive period not only promotes more effective cortical maturation and speech perception development (Kral & Sharma, 2012; Ponton et al., 1996) but it is also recommended for optimal language development to undergo cochlear implantation even before 9 months of age (Dettman et al.,

2021). Deaf children may present lower scores in many cognitive domains which are correlated with hearing and language outcomes despite early technological aids compared to normal hearing peers (Lima et al., 2023). However, they can develop auditory and linguistic skills and learn alongside their typically developing peers by combining electronic auditory devices with a suitable period of speech-language-hearing rehabilitation (Bubbico et al., 2007; Sharma et al., 2002).

6.3.1 Limitations and Future Directions

Our study has promising results, as both differences between groups were identified and deaf babies show different responses to the different conditions. This study, while contributing significant insights into early language perception in infants, is subject to certain limitations that warrant careful consideration. Firstly, the sample size employed in our investigation was relatively modest, which may constrain the extent to which our findings can be extrapolated to broader populations. Although there was ensured representation across both deaf and normal-hearing infants, the limited sample size compromises statistical power and increases the risk of Type I or Type II errors. Future research endeavors would benefit from expanding sample sizes to enhance the reliability and external validity of observed patterns, facilitating more definitive conclusions regarding intergroup disparities in cortical activation during language perception tasks.

Secondly and related to the previous point, the lack of classification of hearing impairment severity within the deaf group, which was due to the small sample size, may have impacted the study results by potentially overlooking important variations in auditory processing abilities among deaf infants. Different degrees or types of hearing loss could influence cortical activation patterns and language perception abilities, leading to variability within the deaf population. Without accounting for these variations, the study may have failed to capture

the full spectrum of responses to linguistic stimuli among deaf infants, limiting the generalizability of the findings and the ability to tailor interventions effectively. Future research could address this limitation by categorizing deaf infants based on the severity or type of hearing impairment. This classification approach may provide deeper insights into the variability observed within the deaf population and inform tailored interventions for optimizing language development in this diverse group.

Thirdly, infancy is characterized by rapid neurodevelopmental changes, with the developing brain displaying varying patterns of cortical activation in response to linguistic stimuli at different developmental stages. By including participants ranging from neonates to older infants, our study inadvertently introduces developmental heterogeneity, potentially obscuring subtle group distinctions. Future investigations would benefit from narrowing participant age ranges to specific developmental periods. This focused approach would allow for a more homogeneous examination of developmental trajectories and facilitate nuanced insights into language perception dynamics during critical periods of neurodevelopment.

Moreover, the inclusion of premature infants in our study, categorized based on their hearing status into the deaf and normal hearing groups respectively, introduces another potential limitation. While this classification facilitated the examination of auditory processing during early developmental stages, it may have inadvertently introduced confounding variables related to prematurity. Premature infants often experience unique developmental trajectories and neurological vulnerabilities compared to full-term infants, which could influence their neural responses to linguistic stimuli independently of their hearing status. Therefore, the differences in cortical activation patterns between premature and full-term infants warrant caution, as these differences may reflect not only the effects of hearing impairment but also the effects of prematurity. Importantly, however, as preterm birth is a common cause of hearing loss, these factors cannot fully be separated in clinical practice. Furthermore, the

involvement of premature infants in our study offers valuable insights into the longitudinal trajectory of language development in this population. As indicated by previous research (Capobianco & Cerniglia, 2017), premature infants typically regain fundamental developmental milestones, including language skills, during later infancy. Therefore, a longitudinal study tracking the language development of premature infants exposed to linguistic stimuli could provide valuable information regarding the efficacy of early intervention strategies and the extent to which cortical activation patterns predict language outcomes over time. A possible improvement in future research endeavors could involve directly comparing premature infants with their full-term peers within each hearing group as well. This comparative approach would enable a more nuanced understanding of the specific effects of prematurity on language perception and cortical activation patterns, independent of hearing status. By disentangling the contributions of prematurity and hearing impairment, researchers can elucidate the unique challenges faced by premature infants in language development and inform targeted intervention strategies to support their linguistic outcomes.

7. Conclusion

This study provides instructive insights into the cortical activation patterns associated with speech perception in deaf and normal-hearing infants during early developmental stages using functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). Findings revealed significant differences in cortical activation patterns between deaf and normal-hearing infants when exposed to a rhythmically different unfamiliar language -ENGFwd and non-speech stimuli -ITABwd. Deaf infants exhibited distinct patterns of brain activation characterized by an inverted response to ENGFwd and a canonical response to ITABwd speech, suggesting compensatory neural mechanisms in response to auditory deprivation. Additionally, the inclusion of premature infants underscores the importance of considering developmental trajectories in language acquisition. Future longitudinal studies could provide further insights into the efficacy of early interventions. Overall, these findings highlight the dynamic nature of early brain development and underscore the importance of tailored interventions for optimizing language acquisition, particularly in vulnerable populations. By elucidating the neural mechanisms underlying language perception in infancy, it is possible to inform evidence-based interventions aimed at promoting cognitive development and linguistic outcomes in early childhood.

- Ahmed, S., Sheraz, S., Malik, S. A., Ahmed, N. R., Malik, S. A., Farooq, S., Raheem, A.,
 Basheer, F., Nayyar, Z. A., & Fazal-e-Malik (2018). Frequency Of Congenital Hearing
 Loss In Neonates. *Journal of Ayub Medical College, Abbottabad : JAMC, 30*(2),
 234–236.
- Allman, B. L., Keniston, L. P., & Meredith, M. A. (2009). Adult deafness induces somatosensory conversion of ferret auditory cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(14), 5925–5930. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0809483106
- Als, H., Duffy, F. H., McAnulty, G. B., Rivkin, M. J., Vajapeyam, S., Mulkern, R. V.,
 Warfield, S. K., Huppi, P. S., Butler, S. C., Conneman, N., Fischer, C., & Eichenwald,
 E. C. (2004). Early experience alters brain function and structure. *Pediatrics*, *113*(4), 846–857. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.113.4.846
- Anand, K. J. S., & Scalzo, F. M. (2000). Can adverse neonatal experiences alter brain development and subsequent behavior? *Neonatology*, 77(2), 69–82. https://doi.org/10.1159/000014197
- Anderson, V., Northam, E., & Wrennall, J. (2001). Developmental Neuropsychology: A Clinical Approach (1st ed.). Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315784847
- Anderson, I., Weichbold, V., D'Haese, P. S. C., Szuchnik, J., Quevedo, M. S., Martin, J.,
 Dieler, W. S., & Phillips, L. (2004). Cochlear implantation in children under the age of
 two—what do the outcomes show us? *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 68(4), 425–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2003.11.013
- Arimitsu, T., Uchida-Ota, M., Yagihashi, T., Kojima, S., Watanabe, S., Hokuto, I., Ikeda, K., Takahashi, T., & Minagawa-Kawai, Y. (2011). Functional hemispheric specialization

in processing phonemic and prosodic auditory changes in neonates. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *2*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00202

- Aslin, R. N. (2013). Questioning the questions that have been asked about the infant brain using near-infrared spectroscopy. *Cognitive Neuropsychology*, 29(1–2), 7–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/02643294.2012.654773
- Babiloni, C., Pizzella, V., Gratta, C. D., Ferretti, A., & Romani, G. L. (2009). Fundamentals of electroencefalography, magnetoencefalography, and functional magnetic resonance imaging. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 67–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0074-7742(09)86005-4
- Barre, N., Morgan, A., Doyle, L. W., & Anderson, P. J. (2011). Language abilities in children who were very preterm and/or very low birth weight: A meta-analysis. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 158(5). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2010.10.032
- Benavides-Varela, S., & Gervain, J. (2017). Learning word order at birth: A nirs study. Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience, 25, 198–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2017.03.003
- Benavides-Varela, S., Gómez, D. M., Macagno, F., Bion, R. A., Peretz, I., & Mehler, J. (2011). Memory in the neonate brain. *Plos One*, 6(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0027497
- Best, C. T., & Avery, R. A. (1999). Left-hemisphere advantage for click consonants is determined by linguistic significance and experience. *Psychological Science*, 10(1), 65–70. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.00108
- Bibas, A. G., Xenellis, J., Michaels, L., Anagnostopoulou, S., Ferekidis, E., & Wright, A. (2007). Temporal Bone Study of development of the organ of Corti: Correlation between auditory function and anatomical structure. *The Journal of Laryngology & Otology*, *122*(4), 336–342. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022215107006548

- Blasi, A., Fox, S., Everdell, N., Volein, A., Tucker, L., Csibra, G., Gibson, A. P., Hebden, J.
 C., Johnson, M. H., & Elwell, C. E. (2007). Investigation of depth dependent changes in cerebral haemodynamics during face perception in infants. *Physics in Medicine and Biology*, *52*(23), 6849–6864. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/52/23/005
- Bortfeld, H., Fava, E., & Boas, D. A. (2009). Identifying cortical lateralization of speech processing in infants using near-infrared spectroscopy. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 34(1), 52–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/87565640802564481
- Bortfeld, H., Wruck, E., & Boas, D. A. (2007). Assessing infants' cortical response to speech using near-infrared spectroscopy. *NeuroImage*, 34(1), 407–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.08.010
- Bosch, L., & Sebastián-Gallés, N. (1997). Native-language recognition abilities in
 4-month-old infants from monolingual and bilingual environments. *Cognition*, 65(1),
 33–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0010-0277(97)00040-1
- Byers-Heinlein, K., Burns, T. C., & Werker, J. F. (2010). The roots of bilingualism in newborns. *Psychological Science*, 21(3), 343–348. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797609360758
- Bubbico, L., Di Castelbianco, F. B., Tangucci, M., & Salvinelli, F. (2007). Early hearing detection and intervention in children with prelingual deafness, effects on language development. *Minerva pediatrica*, 59(4), 307–313.
- Campbell, J., & Sharma, A. (2014). Cross-modal re-organization in adults with early stage hearing loss. *Plos One*, *9*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090594
- Capobianco, M., & Cerniglia, L. (2017). Early language development in preterm children without neurological damage: A longitudinal study [version 1; peer review: 2 approved]. *F1000Research*, 6, 2169. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.13314.1

- Carter, F. A., & Msall, M. E. (2017). Language abilities as a framework for understanding emerging cognition and social competencies after late, moderate, and very preterm birth. *The Journal of Pediatrics*, 181, 8–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.10.077
- Chen, S., Sakatani, K., Lichty, W., Ning, P., Zhao, S., & Zuo, H. (2002). Auditory-evoked cerebral oxygenation changes in hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy of newborn infants monitored by near infrared spectroscopy. *Early Human Development*, 67(1–2), 113–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-3782(02)00004-x
- Cheng, Q., & Mayberry, R. I. (2019). Acquiring a first language in adolescence: The case of basic word order in American sign language. *Journal of Child Language*, 46(2), 214–240. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0305000918000417
- Chiossi, J. S., & Hyppolito, M. A. (2017). Effects of residual hearing on cochlear implant outcomes in children: A systematic-review. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, *100*, 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2017.06.036
- Connor, C. M., Craig, H. K., Raudenbush, S. W., Heavner, K., & Zwolan, T. A. (2006). The age at which young deaf children receive cochlear implants and their vocabulary and speech-production growth: Is there an added value for early implantation? *Ear and Hearing*, 27(6), 628–644. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.aud.0000240640.59205.42
- Conway, C. M., Pisoni, D. B., & Kronenberger, W. G. (2009). The importance of sound for cognitive sequencing abilities. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(5), 275–279. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01651.x
- Crosson, B., Ford, A., McGregor, K. M., Meinzer, M., Cheshkov, S., Li, X., Walker-Batson,
 D., & Briggs, R. W. (2010). Functional imaging and related techniques: An introduction for rehabilitation researchers. *The Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 47(2), 7. https://doi.org/10.1682/jrrd.2010.02.0017

- Csibra, G., Volein, Á., Elwell, C., Tucker, L., Meek, J., Johnson, M., & Henty, J. (2004). Near infrared spectroscopy reveals neural activation during face perception in infants and adults. *Journal of Pediatric Neurology*, 2(2), 85–89. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0035-1557198
- DeCasper, A. J., & Fifer, W. P. (1980). Of human bonding: Newborns prefer their mothers' voices. *Science*, *208*(4448), 1174–1176. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7375928
- DeCasper, A. J., & Prescott, P. A. (1984). Human newborns' perception of male voices: Preference, discrimination, and reinforcing value. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 17(5), 481–491. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.420170506
- DeCasper, A. J., & Spence, M. J. (1986). Prenatal maternal speech influences newborns' perception of speech sounds. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 9(2), 133–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-6383(86)90025-1
- Dehaene, S., Dupoux, E., Mehler, J., Cohen, L., Paulesu, E., Perani, D., van de Moortele, P.
 F., Lehéricy, S., & Le Bihan, D. (1997). Anatomical variability in the cortical representation of first and second language. *NeuroReport*, 8(17), 3809–3815. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199712010-00030
- Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Dehaene, S., & Hertz-Pannier, L. (2002). Functional neuroimaging of speech perception in infants. *Science*, 298(5600), 2013–2015. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1077066
- Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Hertz-Pannier, L., Dubois, J., Mériaux, S., Roche, A., Sigman, M., & Dehaene, S. (2006). Functional Organization of perisylvian activation during presentation of sentences in preverbal infants. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 103(38), 14240–14245. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0606302103
- Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Montavont, A., Jobert, A., Allirol, L., Dubois, J., Hertz-Pannier, L., & Dehaene, S. (2010). Language or music, mother or Mozart? Structural and

environmental influences on infants' language networks. *Brain and Language*, *114*(2), 53–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2009.09.003

Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Pallier, C., Serniclaes, W., Sprenger-Charolles, L., Jobert, A., & Dehaene, S. (2005). Neural correlates of switching from auditory to speech perception. *NeuroImage*, *24*(1), 21–33.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.09.039

- Delobel-Ayoub, M., Arnaud, C., White-Koning, M., Casper, C., Pierrat, V., Garel, M.,
 Burguet, A., Roze, J.-C., Matis, J., Picaud, J.-C., Kaminski, M., & Larroque, B.
 (2009). Behavioral problems and cognitive performance at 5 years of age after very
 preterm birth: The EPIPAGE study. *Pediatrics*, *123*(6), 1485–1492.
 https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-1216
- Deroche, M., Wolfe, J., Neumann, S., Manning, J., Hanna, L., Towler, W., Wilson, C., Bien,
 A., Miller, S., Schafer, E., Gemignani, J., Alemi, R., Muthuraman, M., Koirala, N., &
 Gracco, V. (2023). Cross-Modal Plasticity in Children with Cochlear Implant:
 Converging Evidence from EEG and fNIRS. *Research Square*.
 https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-3150463/v1
- Dettman, S., Choo, D., Au, A., Luu, A., & Dowell, R. (2021). Speech Perception and Language Outcomes for Infants Receiving Cochlear Implants Before or After 9 Months of Age: Use of Category-Based Aggregation of Data in an Unselected Pediatric Cohort. *Journal of speech, language, and hearing research : JSLHR, 64*(3), 1023–1039. https://doi.org/10.1044/2020_JSLHR-20-00228
- Dieleman, E., Percy-Smith, L., & Caye-Thomasen, P. (2019). Language outcome in children with congenital hearing impairment: The influence of etiology. *International Journal* of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology, 117, 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2018.11.002

- Dubois, J., Benders, M., Borradori-Tolsa, C., Cachia, A., Lazeyras, F., Ha-Vinh Leuchter, R., Sizonenko, S. V., Warfield, S. K., Mangin, J. F., & Hüppi, P. S. (2008). Primary cortical folding in the human newborn: An early marker of later functional development. *Brain*, 131(8), 2028–2041. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awn137
- Dubois, J., Benders, M., Cachia, A., Lazeyras, F., Ha-Vinh Leuchter, R., Sizonenko, S. V.,
 Borradori-Tolsa, C., Mangin, J. F., & Huppi, P. S. (2008). Mapping the early cortical folding process in the preterm newborn brain. *Cerebral Cortex*, *18*(6), 1444–1454. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhm180
- Dubois, J., Benders, M., Lazeyras, F., Borradori-Tolsa, C., Leuchter, R. H.-V., Mangin, J. F., & Hüppi, P. S. (2010). Structural asymmetries of perisylvian regions in the preterm newborn. *NeuroImage*, *52*(1), 32–42.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.03.054

- Draganova, R., Eswaran, H., Murphy, P., Lowery, C., & Preissl, H. (2007). Serial magnetoencephalographic study of fetal and newborn auditory discriminative evoked responses. *Early Human Development*, 83(3), 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2006.05.018
- Déak, G. O. (2014). Interrelations of language and cognitive development. *Encyclopedia of Language Development*, 284–291
- Edwards, L., Khan, S., Broxholme, C., & Langdon, D. (2006). Exploration of the cognitive and behavioural consequences of paediatric cochlear implantation. *Cochlear Implants International*, 7(2), 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1002/cii.300
- Eggermont, J. J., & Ponton, C. W. (2003). Auditory-evoked potential studies of cortical maturation in normal hearing and implanted children: Correlations with changes in structure and speech perception. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *123*(2), 249–252. https://doi.org/10.1080/0036554021000028098

Fifer, W. P., & Moon, C. M. (1995). The effects of fetal experience with sound. In J. P. Lecanuet, W. P. Fifer, N. A. Krasnegor, & W. P. Smotherman (Eds.), *Fetal development: A psychobiological perspective* (pp. 351–366). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

- Fitzpatrick, E. (2015). Neurocognitive development in congenitally deaf children. *The Human Auditory System Fundamental Organization and Clinical Disorders*, 335–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-62630-1.00019-6
- Fonseca, R. P., Scherer, L. C., Oliveira, C. R., & Parente, M. A. (2009). Hemispheric specialization for communicative processing: Neuroimaging data on the role of the right hemisphere. *Psychology & Neuroscience*, 2(1), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.3922/j.psns.2009.1.05
- Foster-Cohen, S., Edgin, J. O., Champion, P. R., & Woodward, L. J. (2007). Early delayed language development in very preterm infants: Evidence from the Macarthur-Bates CDI. *Journal of Child Language*, 34(3), 655–675. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0305000907008070
- Frankenhuis, W. E., & Walasek, N. (2020). Modeling the evolution of sensitive periods. Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience, 41, 100715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2019.100715
- Friederici, A. D. (2002). Towards a neural basis of auditory sentence processing. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 6(2), 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1364-6613(00)01839-8
- Friederici, A. D., Bahlmann, J., Heim, S., Schubotz, R. I., & Anwander, A. (2006). The brain differentiates human and non-human grammars: Functional localization and structural connectivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(7), 2458–2463. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0509389103

Fulcher, A., Purcell, A. A., Baker, E., & Munro, N. (2012). Listen up: Children with early identified hearing loss achieve age-appropriate speech/language outcomes by 3years-of-age. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 76(12), 1785–1794. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2012.09.001

Gagnon, R., Hunse, C., Carmichael, L., Fellows, F., & Patrick, J. (1987). Human fetal responses to vibrator acoustic stimulation from twenty-six weeks to term. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *157*(6), 1375–1381. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0002-9378(87)80227-2

- Gallagher, A., Thériault, M., Maclin, E., Low, K., Gratton, G., Fabiani, M., Gagnon, L.,
 Valois, K., Rouleau, I., Sauerwein, H. C., Carmant, L., Nguyen, D. K., Lortie, A.,
 Lepore, F., Béland, R., & Lassonde, M. (2007). Near-infrared spectroscopy as an
 alternative to the Wada test for language mapping in children, adults and special
 populations. *Epileptic Disorders: International Epilepsy Journal With Videotape*, 9(3),
 241–255. https://doi.org/10.1684/epd.2007.0118
- Gandour, J., Wong, D., Lowe, M., Dzemidzic, M., Satthamnuwong, N., Tong, Y., & Li, X. (2002). A cross-linguistic fmri study of spectral and temporal cues underlying phonological processing. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *14*(7), 1076–1087. https://doi.org/10.1162/089892902320474526
- Gervain, J. (2015). Plasticity in early language acquisition: The effects of prenatal and early childhood experience. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 35, 13–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2015.05.004
- Gervain, J. (2018). The role of prenatal experience in language development. *Current* Opinion in Behavioral Sciences, 21, 62–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2018.02.004

- Gervain, J., & Mehler, J. (2010). Speech perception and language acquisition in the first year of life. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61(1), 191–218. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.093008.100408
- Gervain, J., Macagno, F., Cogoi, S., Peña, M., & Mehler, J. (2008). The neonate brain detects speech structure. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(37), 14222–14227. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0806530105
- Gervain, J., Mehler, J., Werker, J. F., Nelson, C. A., Csibra, G., Lloyd-Fox, S., Shukla, M., & Aslin, R. N. (2011). Near-infrared spectroscopy: A report from the McDonnell Infant Methodology Consortium. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 1(1), 22–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2010.07.004
- Gilley, P. M., Sharma, A., & Dorman, M. F. (2008). Cortical reorganization in children with cochlear implants. *Brain Research*, 1239, 56–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2008.08.026
- Gilmore, J. H., Knickmeyer, R. C., & Gao, W. (2018). Imaging structural and functional brain development in early childhood. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 19(3), 123–137. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2018.1
- Gottlieb, G. (2007). Probabilistic epigenesis. *Developmental Science*, 10(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2007.00556.x
- Govaerts, P. J., De Beukelaer, C., Daemers, K., De Ceulaer, G., Yperman, M., Somers, T., Schatteman, I., & Offeciers, F. E. (2002). Outcome of cochlear implantation at different ages from 0 to 6 years. *Otology & Neurotology*, 23(6), 885–890. https://doi.org/10.1097/00129492-200211000-00013
- Granier-Deferre, C., Ribeiro, A., Jacquet, A., & Bassereau, S. (2011). Near-term fetuses process temporal features of speech. *Developmental Science*, 14(2), 336–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2010.00978.x

Grantham-McGregor, S., Cheung, Y. B., Cueto, S., Glewwe, P., Richter, L., & Strupp, B. (2007). Developmental potential in the first 5 years for children in developing countries. *The Lancet*, 369(9555), 60–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(07)60032-4

Groome, L. J., Mooney, D. M., Holland, S. B., Smith, L. A., Atterbury, J. L., & Dykman, R.
A. (1999). Behavioral state affects heart rate response to low-intensity sound in human fetuses. *Early Human Development*, 54(1), 39–54.
https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-3782(98)00083-8

- Grossmann, T., & Johnson, M. H. (2014). The early development of the brain bases for social cognition. In K. N. Ochsner & S. M. Kosslyn (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of cognitive neuroscience, Vol. 2. The cutting edges* (pp. 257–271). Oxford University Press.
- Grossmann, T., Johnson, M. H., Lloyd-Fox, S., Blasi, A., Deligianni, F., Elwell, C., & Csibra,
 G. (2008). Early cortical specialization for face-to-face communication in human
 infants. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 275(1653),
 2803–2811. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2008.0986
- Grossmann, T., Oberecker, R., Koch, S. P., & Friederici, A. D. (2010). The developmental origins of voice processing in the human brain. *Neuron*, 65(6), 852–858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.03.001
- Grégoire, A., Deggouj, N., Dricot, L., Decat, M., & Kupers, R. (2022). Brain morphological modifications in congenital and acquired auditory deprivation: A systematic review and coordinate-based meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2022.850245

- Hall, W. C. (2017). What you don't know can hurt you: The risk of language deprivation by impairing sign language development in Deaf Children. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 21(5), 961–965. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-017-2287-y
- Hartmann, R., Shepherd, R. K., Heid, S., & Klinke, R. (1997). Response of the primary auditory cortex to electrical stimulation of the auditory nerve in the congenitally deaf White Cat. *Hearing Research*, *112*(1–2), 115–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-5955(97)00114-7
- Heid, S., Jähn-Siebert, T. K., Klinke, R., Hartmann, R., & Langner, G. (1997). Afferent projection patterns in the auditory brainstem in normal and congenitally deaf White Cats. *Hearing Research*, 110(1–2), 191–199.

https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-5955(97)00074-9

- Hepper, P. G., & Shahidullah, B. S. (1994). Development of fetal hearing. *Archives of Disease in Childhood - Fetal and Neonatal Edition*, 71(2). https://doi.org/10.1136/fn.71.2.f81
- Highton, D., Boas, D., Minagawa, Y., Mesquita, R. C., & Gervain, J. (2023). Special section guest editorial: Thirty years of functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Neurophotonics*, *10*(02). https://doi.org/10.1117/1.nph.10.2.023501
- Homae, F., Watanabe, H., Nakano, T., & Taga, G. (2007). Prosodic processing in the developing brain. *Neuroscience Research*, 59(1), 29–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2007.05.005
- Hoshi, Y. (2007). Functional near-infrared spectroscopy: Current status and future prospects. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, *12*(6), 062106. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.2804911
- Hribar, M., Šuput, D., Battelino, S., & Vovk, A. (2020). Review article: Structural brain alterations in prelingually deaf. *NeuroImage*, 220, 117042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2020.117042

- Huang, L., Kaga, K., & Hashimoto, K. (2002). Progressive hearing loss in an infant in a neonatal intensive care unit as revealed by auditory evoked brainstem responses. *Auris Nasus Larynx*, 29(2), 187–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0385-8146(01)00140-7
- Hübener, M., & Bonhoeffer, T. (2014). Neuronal plasticity: Beyond the critical period. *Cell*, *159*(4), 727–737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.10.035
- Johnson, S., & Marlow, N. (2016). Early and long-term outcome of infants born extremely preterm. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, *102*(1), 97–102. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2015-309581

Jusczyk, P. W. (1997). The discovery of spoken language. MIT Press.

Kahlaoui, K., Vlasblom, V., Lesage, F., Senhadji, N., Benali, H., & Joanette, Y. (2007).
Semantic processing of words in The aging brain: A near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) study. *Brain and Language*, 103(1–2), 144–145.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2007.07.087

- Kennan, R. P., Kim, D., Maki, A., Koizumi, H., & Constable, R. T. (2002). Non-invasive assessment of language lateralization by transcranial near infrared optical topography and functional MRI. *Human Brain Mapping*, *16*(3), 183–189. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.10039
- Kilgard, M. P., Pandya, P. K., Engineer, N. D., & Moucha, R. (2002). Cortical network reorganization guided by sensory input features. *Biological Cybernetics*, 87(5–6), 333–343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00422-002-0352-z

Kisilevsky, B.S., Hains, S. M. J., Brown, C. A., Lee, C. T., Cowperthwaite, B., Stutzman, S. S., Swansburg, M. L., Lee, K., Xie, X., Huang, H., Ye, H.-H., Zhang, K., & Wang, Z. (2009). Fetal sensitivity to properties of maternal speech and language. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *32*(1), 59–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2008.10.002 Kisilevsky, Barbara S., Hains, S. M. J., Lee, K., Xie, X., Huang, H., Ye, H. H., Zhang, K., & Wang, Z. (2003). Effects of experience on fetal voice recognition. *Psychological Science*, *14*(3), 220–224. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9280.02435

Koh, P. H., Glaser, D. E., Flandin, G., Kiebel, S., Butterworth, B., Maki, A., Delpy, D. T., & Elwell, C. E. (2007). Functional Optical Signal Analysis: A software tool for near-infrared spectroscopy data processing incorporating statistical parametric mapping. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, *12*(6), 064010. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.2804092

- Kotilahti, K., Nissilä, I., Näsi, T., Lipiäinen, L., Noponen, T., Meriläinen, P., Huotilainen, M.,
 & Fellman, V. (2010). Hemodynamic responses to speech and music in Newborn
 Infants. *Human Brain Mapping*, *31*(4), 595–603. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20890
- Kral, A. (2013). Auditory critical periods: A review from system's perspective. *Neuroscience*, 247, 117–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.05.021
- Kral, A., & O'Donoghue, G. M. (2010). Profound deafness in childhood. New England Journal of Medicine, 363(15), 1438–1450. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmra0911225
- Kral, A., & Sharma, A. (2012). Developmental neuroplasticity after cochlear implantation.*Trends in Neurosciences*, 35(2), 111–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2011.09.004
- Kral, A., Hartmann, R., Tillein, J., Heid, S., & Klinke, R. (2001). Delayed maturation and sensitive periods in the auditory cortex. *Audiology and Neurotology*, *6*(6), 346–362. https://doi.org/10.1159/000046845
- Kral, A., Kronenberger, W. G., Pisoni, D. B., & O'Donoghue, G. M. (2016). Neurocognitive factors in sensory restoration of early deafness: A connectome model. *The Lancet Neurology*, 15(6), 610–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(16)00034-x
- Kronenberger, W. G., Pisoni, D. B., Henning, S. C., & Colson, B. G. (2013). Executive functioning skills in long-term users of cochlear implants: A case control study.

Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 38(8), 902–914.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jst034

Lecanuet, J. P., Graniere-Deferre, C., Jacquet, A. Y., & DeCasper, A. J. (2000). Fetal discrimination of low-pitched musical notes. *Developmental Psychobiology*, *36*(1), 29.

https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1098-2302(200001)36:1<29::aid-dev4>3.3.co;2-a

- Lecanuet, J. P., Granier-Deferre, C., Jacquet, A. Y., Capponi, I., & Ledru, L. (1993). Prenatal discrimination of a male and a female voice uttering the same sentence. *Early Development and Parenting*, 2(4), 217–228. https://doi.org/10.1002/edp.2430020405
- Leigh, J., Dettman, S., Dowell, R., & Briggs, R. (2013). Communication development in children who receive a cochlear implant by 12 months of age. *Otology & Neurotology*, 34(3), 443–450. https://doi.org/10.1097/mao.0b013e3182814d2c
- Lenneberg, E. H. (1967). The biological foundations of language. *Hospital Practice*, 2(12), 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1080/21548331.1967.11707799
- Lima, J. V., de Morais, C. F., Zamberlan-Amorim, N. E., Mandrá, P. P., & Reis, A. C. (2023). Neurocognitive function in children with cochlear implants and hearing aids: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2023.1242949
- Linsell, L., Malouf, R., Johnson, S., Morris, J., Kurinczuk, J. J., & Marlow, N. (2016).
 Prognostic factors for behavioral problems and psychiatric disorders in children born very preterm or very low birth weight. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 37(1), 88–102. https://doi.org/10.1097/dbp.0000000000238
- Lloyd-Fox, S., Blasi, A., & Elwell, C. E. (2010). Illuminating the developing brain: the past, present and future of functional near infrared spectroscopy. *Neuroscience and*

biobehavioral reviews, *34*(3), 269–284.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.07.008

- Lloyd-Fox, S., Blasi, A., Volein, A., Everdell, N., Elwell, C. E., & Johnson, M. H. (2009).
 Social Perception in infancy: A near infrared spectroscopy study. *Child Development*, 80(4), 986–999. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01312
- Mahmoudzadeh, M., Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Fournier, M., Kongolo, G., Goudjil, S., Dubois, J., Grebe, R., & Wallois, F. (2013). Syllabic discrimination in premature human infants prior to complete formation of cortical layers. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(12), 4846–4851. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1212220110
- Matsuo, K., Kato, T., Fukuda, M., & Kato, N. (2000). Alteration of hemoglobin oxygenation in the frontal region in elderly depressed patients as measured by near-infrared spectroscopy. *The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, *12*(4), 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1176/jnp.12.4.465
- May, L., Byers-Heinlein, K., Gervain, J., & Werker, J. F. (2011). Language and the newborn brain: Does prenatal language experience shape the neonate neural response to speech? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00222
- May, L., Gervain, J., Carreiras, M., & Werker, J. F. (2017). The specificity of the neural response to speech at birth. *Developmental Science*, 21(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12564
- Mayberry, R. I., Lock, E., & Kazmi, H. (2002). Linguistic ability and early language exposure. *Nature*, *417*(6884), 38–38. https://doi.org/10.1038/417038a
- McBride, E. G., Rubel, E. W., & Wang, Y. (2013). Afferent regulation of chicken auditory brainstem neurons: Rapid changes in phosphorylation of elongation factor 2. *Journal* of Comparative Neurology, 521(5), 1165–1183. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.23227

- Mehler, J., & Dupoux, E. (1994). What infants know: The new cognitive science of early development. *Choice Reviews Online*, *32*(02). https://doi.org/10.5860/choice.32-1229
- Robbins, A. M., Koch, D. B., Osberger, M. J., Zimmerman-Phillips, S., & Kishon-Rabin, L.
 (2004). Effect of age at cochlear implantation on auditory skill development in infants and toddlers. *Archives of Otolaryngology – Head & Neck Surgery*, *130*(5), 570. https://doi.org/10.1001/archotol.130.5.570
- McMahon, E., Wintermark, P., & Lahav, A. (2012). Auditory brain development in premature infants: The importance of early experience. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1252*(1), 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2012.06445.x
- Mehler, J., Jusczyk, P., Lambertz, G., Halsted, N., Bertoncini, J., & Amiel-Tison, C. (1988). A precursor of language acquisition in Young Infants. *Cognition*, 29(2), 143–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(88)90035-2
- Minagawa-Kawai, Y., Cristià, A., & Dupoux, E. (2011a). Cerebral lateralization and early speech acquisition: A developmental scenario. *Developmental Cognitive Neuroscience*, 1(3), 217–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2011.03.005
- Minagawa-Kawai, Y., Mori, K., Furuya, I., Hayashi, R., & Sato, Y. (2002). Assessing cerebral representations of short and long vowel categories by NIRS. *Neuroreport*, 13(5), 581–584. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200204160-00009
- Minagawa-Kawai, Y., Mori, K., Naoi, N., & Kojima, S. (2007). Neural attunement processes in infants during the acquisition of a language-specific phonemic contrast. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *27*(2), 315–321.

https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1984-06.2007

 Minagawa-Kawai, Y., Mori, K., Hebden, J. C., & Dupoux, E. (2008). Optical Imaging of Infants' neurocognitive development: Recent advances and perspectives.
 Developmental Neurobiology, 68(6), 712–728. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.20618 Minagawa-Kawai, Y., van der Lely, H., Ramus, F., Sato, Y., Mazuka, R., & Dupoux, E.
(2011b). Optical Brain Imaging reveals general auditory and language-specific processing in early infant development. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21(2), 254–261. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhq082

Miyagawa, M., Nishio, S.-Y., & Usami, S.-I. (2016). A comprehensive study on the etiology of patients receiving cochlear implantation with special emphasis on genetic epidemiology. *Otology & Neurotology*, *37*(2).
https://doi.org/10.1097/mao.00000000000936

- Montirosso, R., Giusti, L., Del Prete, A., Zanini, R., Bellù, R., & Borgatti, R. (2016).
 Language outcomes at 36 months in prematurely born children is associated with the quality of developmental care in Nicus. *Journal of Perinatology*, *36*(9), 768–774.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/jp.2016.57
- Moon, C., Cooper, R. P., & Fifer, W. P. (1993). Two-day-olds prefer their native language. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *16*(4), 495–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-6383(93)80007-u
- Moon, C., Lagercrantz, H., & Kuhl, P. K. (2013). Language experienced in utero affects vowel perception after birth: A two-country study. *Acta Paediatrica*, 102(2), 156–160. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.12098
- Morishita, H., & Hensch, T. K. (2008). Critical period revisited: Impact on vision. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 18(1), 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2008.05.009
- Nakahara, H., Zhang, L. I., & Merzenich, M. M. (2004). Specialization of primary auditory cortex processing by sound exposure in the "critical period." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(18), 7170–7174. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0401196101

Nakato, E., Otsuka, Y., Kanazawa, S., Yamaguchi, M. K., Watanabe, S., & Kakigi, R. (2009). When do infants differentiate profile face from frontal face? A near-infrared spectroscopic study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 30(2), 462–472. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20516

Nazzi, T., Bertoncini, J., & Mehler, J. (1998). Language discrimination by newborns: Toward an understanding of the role of rhythm. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance*, 24(3), 756–766.
https://doi.org/10.1037//0096-1523.24.3.756

- Nazzi, T., Jusczyk, P. W., & Johnson, E. K. (2000). Language discrimination by English-learning 5-month-olds: Effects of rhythm and familiarity. *Journal of Memory* and Language, 43(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmla.2000.2698
- Nikolopoulos, T. P., Archbold, S. M., & O'Donoghue, G. M. (2006). Does cause of deafness influence outcome after cochlear implantation in children? *Pediatrics*, *118*(4), 1350–1356. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-0502
- Niparko, J. K. (2010). Spoken language development in children following cochlear implantation. *JAMA*, *303*(15), 1498. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2010.451
- Nishida, T., Kusaka, T., Isobe, K., Ijichi, S., Okubo, K., Iwase, T., Kawada, K., Namba, M., Imai, T., & Itoh, S. (2008). Extrauterine environment affects the cortical responses to verbal stimulation in preterm infants. *Neuroscience Letters*, 443(1), 23–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2008.07.035
- Norrelgen, F., Lilja, A., Ingvar, M., Gisselgård, J., & Fransson, P. (2012). Language lateralization in children aged 10 to 11 years: A combined fmri and dichotic listening study. *Plos One*, 7(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051872
- Obrig, H. (2010). From acoustic segmentation to language processing: Evidence from Optical Imaging. *Frontiers in Neuroenergetics*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnene.2010.00013

- Otsuka, Y., Nakato, E., Kanazawa, S., Yamaguchi, M. K., Watanabe, S., & Kakigi, R. (2007). Neural activation to upright and inverted faces in infants measured by near infrared spectroscopy. *NeuroImage*, 34(1), 399–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.08.013
- Paquette, N., Lassonde, M., Vannasing, P., Tremblay, J., González-Frankenberger, B., Florea, O., Béland, R., Lepore, F., & Gallagher, A. (2015). Developmental patterns of expressive language hemispheric lateralization in children, adolescents and adults using functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Neuropsychologia*, 68, 117–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.01.007
- Perani, D., Saccuman, M. C., Scifo, P., Anwander, A., Spada, D., Baldoli, C., Poloniato, A., Lohmann, G., & Friederici, A. D. (2011). Neural language networks at birth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(38), 16056–16061. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1102991108
- Percy-Smith, L., Busch, G., Sandahl, M., Nissen, L., Josvassen, J. L., Lange, T., Rusch, E., & Cayé-Thomasen, P. (2013). Language understanding and vocabulary of early cochlear implanted children. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 77(2), 184–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2012.10.014
- Petitto, L. A., Zatorre, R. J., Gauna, K., Nikelski, E. J., Dostie, D., & Evans, A. C. (2000).
 Speech-like cerebral activity in profoundly deaf people processing signed languages:
 Implications for the neural basis of human language. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(25), 13961–13966. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.25.13961
- Peña, M., Arias, D., & Dehaene-Lambertz, G. (2014). Gaze following is accelerated in healthy preterm infants. *Psychological Science*, 25(10), 1884–1892. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797614544307

- Peña, M., Maki, A., Kovacić, D., Dehaene-Lambertz, G., Koizumi, H., Bouquet, F., & Mehler, J. (2003). Sounds and silence: An optical topography study of language recognition at birth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(20), 11702–11705. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1934290100
- Peña, M., Pittaluga, E., & Mehler, J. (2010). Language acquisition in premature and full-term infants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(8), 3823–3828. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0914326107
- Philbin, M. K. (2017). The sound environments and auditory perceptions of the fetus and preterm newborn. *Early Vocal Contact and Preterm Infant Brain Development*, 91–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-65077-7_6
- Philips, B., Maes, L. K., Keppler, H., & Dhooge, I. (2014). Cochlear implants in children deafened by congenital cytomegalovirus and matched connexin 26 peers. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 78(3), 410–415.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2013.11.009
- Poeppel, D. (2003). The analysis of speech in different temporal integration windows:
 Cerebral lateralization as 'asymmetric sampling in time.' *Speech Communication*, 41(1), 245–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-6393(02)00107-3
- Ponton, C. W., Don, M., Eggermont, J. J., Waring, M. D., & Masuda, A. (1996). Maturation of human cortical auditory function: Differences between normal-hearing children and children with cochlear implants. *Ear and Hearing*, *17*(5), 430–437. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003446-199610000-00009
- Pulvermüller, F., Shtyrov, Y., & Ilmoniemi, R. (2005). Brain signatures of meaning access in action word recognition. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 17(6), 884–892. https://doi.org/10.1162/0898929054021111

- Quaresima, V., Bisconti, S., & Ferrari, M. (2012). A brief review on the use of functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) for language imaging studies in human newborns and adults. *Brain and Language*, 121(2), 79–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandl.2011.03.009
- Quaresima, V., Ferrari, M., Torricelli, A., Spinelli, L., Pifferi, A., & Cubeddu, R. (2005).
 Bilateral prefrontal cortex oxygenation responses to a verbal fluency task: A multichannel time-resolved near-infrared topography study. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, *10*(1), 011012. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.1851512
- Quaresima, V., Ferrari, M., van der Sluijs, M. C. P., Menssen, J., & Colier, W. N. J. M. (2002). Lateral frontal cortex oxygenation changes during translation and language switching revealed by non-invasive near-infrared multi-point measurements. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 59(3), 235–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0361-9230(02)00871-7
- Quittner, A. L., Leibach, P., & Marciel, K. (2004). The impact of cochlear implants on young deaf children. Archives of Otolaryngology – Head & Neck Surgery, 130(5), 547. https://doi.org/10.1001/archotol.130.5.547
- Raggio, M. W., & Schreiner, C. E. (1999). Neuronal responses in cat primary auditory cortex to electrical cochlear stimulation. III. activation patterns in short- and long-term deafness. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 82(6), 3506–3526. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1999.82.6.3506
- Ramus, F. (2002). Language discrimination by newborns. *Annual Review of Language Acquisition*, *2*, 85–115. https://doi.org/10.1075/arla.2.05ram
- Ramus, F., Hauser, M. D., Miller, C., Morris, D., & Mehler, J. (2000). Language discrimination by human newborns and by cotton-top Tamarin Monkeys. *Science*, 288(5464), 349–351. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.288.5464.349

- Ruben, R. J. (1997). A time frame of critical/sensitive periods of language development. *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *117*(2), 202–205. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489709117769
- Saito, Y, Aoyama, S., Kondo, T., Fukumoto, R., Konishi, N., Nakamura, K., Kobayashi, M.,
 & Toshima, T. (2007a). Frontal cerebral blood flow change associated with infant-directed speech. *Archives of Disease in Childhood Fetal and Neonatal Edition*, 92(2), 113–116. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.2006.097949
- Saito, Yuri, Fukuhara, R., Aoyama, S., & Toshima, T. (2009). Frontal brain activation in premature infants' response to auditory stimuli in neonatal intensive care unit. *Early Human Development*, 85(7), 471–474.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2009.04.004

- Saito, Yuri, Kondo, T., Aoyama, S., Fukumoto, R., Konishi, N., Nakamura, K., Kobayashi,
 M., & Toshima, T. (2007b). The function of the frontal lobe in neonates for response to a prosodic voice. *Early Human Development*, *83*(4), 225–230.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2006.05.017
- Sakatani, K., Chen, S., Lichty, W., Zuo, H., & Wang, Y. (1999). Cerebral blood oxygenation changes induced by auditory stimulation in newborn infants measured by near infrared spectroscopy. *Early Human Development*, 55(3), 229–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-3782(99)00019-5
- Sale, A., Berardi, N., & Maffei, L. (2009). Enrich the environment to empower the brain. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *32*(4), 233–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2008.12.004
- Sansavini, A., Guarini, A., & Caselli, M. C. (2013). Preterm birth: Neuropsychological profiles and atypical developmental pathways. *Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 17(2), 102–113. https://doi.org/10.1002/ddrr.1105
- Sato, H., Hirabayashi, Y., Tsubokura, H., Kanai, M., Ashida, T., Konishi, I., Uchida-Ota, M., Konishi, Y., & Maki, A. (2012). Cerebral hemodynamics in newborn infants exposed
to speech sounds: A whole-head optical topography study. *Human Brain Mapping*, *33*(9), 2092–2103. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21350

- Sato, Y., Mori, K., Koizumi, T., Minagawa-Kawai, Y., Tanaka, A., Ozawa, E., Wakaba, Y., & Mazuka, R. (2011). Functional lateralization of speech processing in adults and children who stutter. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00070
- Sato, Y., Sogabe, Y., & Mazuka, R. (2010). Development of hemispheric specialization for lexical pitch–accent in Japanese infants. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22(11), 2503–2513. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21377

Schauwers, K., Gillis, S., Daemers, K., De Beukelaer, C., De Ceulaer, G., Yperman, M., & Govaerts, P. J. (2004). Normal hearing and language development in a deaf-born child. *Otology & Neurotology*, *25*(6), 924–929. https://doi.org/10.1097/00129492-200411000-00011

- Scheinost, Dustin, Chang, J., Lacadie, C., Brennan-Wydra, E., Constable, R. T., Chawarska,
 K., & Ment, L. R. (2021). Functional connectivity for the language network in the
 developing brain: 30 weeks of gestation to 30 months of age. *Cerebral Cortex*, 32(15),
 3289–3301. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhab415
- Sharma, A., & Campbell, J. (2011). A sensitive period for cochlear implantation in Deaf Children. *The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine*, 24(sup1), 151–153. https://doi.org/10.3109/14767058.2011.607614
- Sharma, A., Dorman, M. F., & Spahr, A. J. (2002). A sensitive period for the development of the central auditory system in children with cochlear implants: Implications for age of Implantation. *Ear and Hearing*, 23(6), 532–539. https://doi.org/10.1097/00003446-200212000-00004

Simon, M., Campbell, E., Genest, F., MacLean, M. W., Champoux, F., & Lepore, F. (2020). The impact of early deafness on brain plasticity: A systematic review of the white and gray matter changes. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2020.00206

- Smith, C., Satt, B., Phelan, J., & Paul, R. (1990). Intrauterine sound levels: Intrapartum assessment with an intrauterine microphone. *American Journal of Perinatology*, 7(04), 312–315. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2007-999511
- Spence, M. J., & DeCasper, A. J. (1987). Prenatal experience with low-frequency maternal-voice sounds influence neonatal perception of maternal voice samples. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 10(2), 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-6383(87)90028-2
- Stakhovskaya, O., Hradek, G. T., Snyder, R. L., & Leake, P. A. (2008). Effects of age at onset of deafness and electrical stimulation on the developing cochlear nucleus in cats. *Hearing Research*, 243(1–2), 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2008.05.007
- Striem-Amit, E., Almeida, J., Belledonne, M., Chen, Q., Fang, Y., Han, Z., Caramazza, A., & Bi, Y. (2016). Topographical functional connectivity patterns exist in the congenitally, prelingually deaf. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep29375
- Svirsky, M. A., Teoh, S.-W., & Neuburger, H. (2004). Development of language and speech perception in congenitally, profoundly deaf children as a function of age at cochlear implantation. *Audiology and Neurotology*, 9(4), 224–233. https://doi.org/10.1159/000078392

Szaflarski, J. P., Holland, S. K., Schmithorst, V. J., & Byars, A. W. (2006). FMRI study of language lateralization in children and adults. *Human Brain Mapping*, 27(3), 202–212. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.20177

- Szagun, G. (2004). Learning by ear: On the acquisition of Case and gender marking by German-speaking children with normal hearing and with cochlear implants. *Journal of Child Language*, 31(1), 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0305000903005889
- Taga, G., & Asakawa, K. (2007). Selectivity and localization of cortical response to auditory and visual stimulation in awake infants aged 2 to 4 months. *NeuroImage*, 36(4), 1246–1252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.04.037
- Telkemeyer, S., Rossi, S., Koch, S. P., Nierhaus, T., Steinbrink, J., Poeppel, D., Obrig, H., & Wartenburger, I. (2009). Sensitivity of newborn auditory cortex to the temporal structure of sounds. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(47), 14726–14733. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1246-09.2009
- Tong, L., Strong, M. K., Kaur, T., Juiz, J. M., Oesterle, E. C., Hume, C., Warchol, M. E.,
 Palmiter, R. D., & Rubel, E. W. (2015). Selective deletion of cochlear hair cells causes
 rapid age-dependent changes in spiral ganglion and cochlear nucleus neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *35*(20), 7878–7891.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.2179-14.2015
- Truy, E., Lina-Granade, G., Jonas, A. M., Martinon, G., Maison, S., Girard, J., Porot, M., & Morgon, A. (1998). Comprehension of language in congenitally deaf children with and without cochlear implants. *International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology*, 45(1), 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-5876(98)00097-4
- van Noort-van der Spek, I. L., Franken, M.-C. J., & Weisglas-Kuperus, N. (2012). Language functions in preterm-born children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*, 129(4), 745–754. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-1728
- van Zundert, B., Yoshii, A., & Constantine-Paton, M. (2004). Receptor compartmentalization and trafficking at glutamate synapses: A developmental proposal. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 27(7), 428–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2004.05.010

Vandormael, C., Schoenhals, L., Hüppi, P. S., Filippa, M., & Borradori Tolsa, C. (2019). Language in preterm born children: Atypical development and effects of early interventions on neuroplasticity. *Neural Plasticity*, 2019, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/6873270

Vannasing, P., Florea, O., González-Frankenberger, B., Tremblay, J., Paquette, N., Safi, D.,
Wallois, F., Lepore, F., Béland, R., Lassonde, M., & Gallagher, A. (2016). Distinct
hemispheric specializations for native and non-native languages in one-day-old
newborns identified by fNIRS. *Neuropsychologia*, *84*, 63–69.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.01.038

- Varga, L., Kabátová, Z., Mašindová, I., Nechojdomová, D., Gašperíková, D., Klimeš, I., & Profant, M. (2014). Is deafness etiology important for prediction of functional outcomes in pediatric cochlear implantation? *Acta Oto-Laryngologica*, *134*(6), 571–578. https://doi.org/10.3109/00016489.2014.894253
- Vohr, B., Jodoin-Krauzyk, J., Tucker, R., Johnson, M. J., Topol, D., & Ahlgren, M. (2008).
 Early language outcomes of early-identified infants with permanent hearing loss at 12 to 16 months of age. *Pediatrics*, *122*(3), 535–544.
 https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2007-2028
- Vouloumanos, A., & Werker, J. F. (2007). Listening to language at birth: Evidence for a bias for speech in neonates. *Developmental Science*, 10(2), 159–164. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2007.00549.x
- Watanabe, E., Maki, A., Kawaguchi, F., Takashiro, K., Yamashita, Y., Koizumi, H., & Mayanagi, Y. (1998). Non-invasive assessment of language dominance with near-infrared spectroscopic mapping. *Neuroscience Letters*, 256(1), 49–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0304-3940(98)00754-x

Watson, N. F., Dodrill, C., Farrell, D., Holmes, M. D., & Miller, J. W. (2004). Determination of language dominance with near-infrared spectroscopy: Comparison with the intracarotid amobarbital procedure. *Seizure*, *13*(6), 399–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seizure.2003.09.008

- Whiteus, C., Freitas, C., & Grutzendler, J. (2013). Perturbed neural activity disrupts cerebral angiogenesis during a postnatal critical period. *Nature*, 505(7483), 407–411. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12821
- Wilson-Ching, M., Molloy, C. S., Anderson, V. A., Burnett, A., Roberts, G., Cheong, J. L. Y., Doyle, L. W., & Anderson, P. J. (2013). Attention difficulties in a contemporary geographic cohort of adolescents born extremely preterm/extremely low birth weight. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *19*(10), 1097–1108. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1355617713001057
- Wolak, T., Cieśla, K., Pluta, A., Włodarczyk, E., Biswal, B., & Skarżyński, H. (2019). Altered functional connectivity in patients with sloping sensorineural hearing loss. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2019.00284
- Woodward, L. J., Anderson, P. J., Austin, N. C., Howard, K., & Inder, T. E. (2006). Neonatal MRI to predict neurodevelopmental outcomes in preterm infants. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 355(7), 685–694. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa053792
- Yoshinaga-Itano, C. (2003). From screening to early identification and intervention:
 Discovering predictors to successful outcomes for children with significant hearing loss. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 8(1), 11–30.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/8.1.11
- Zaramella, P., Freato, F., Amigoni, A., Salvadori, S., Marangoni, P., Suppjei, A., Schiavo, B.,& Chiandetti, L. (2001). Brain auditory activation measured by near-infrared

spectroscopy (NIRS) in neonates. *Pediatric Research*, 49(2), 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1203/00006450-200102000-00014

- Zhang, F., Gervain, J., & Roeyers, H. (2022). Developmental changes in the brain response to speech during the first year of life: A near-infrared spectroscopy study of Dutch-Learning Infants. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 67, 101724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2022.101724
- Zhang, X., Noah, J. A., Dravida, S., & Hirsch, J. (2017). Signal Processing of functional NIRS data acquired during overt speaking. *Neurophotonics*, 4(04), 1. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.nph.4.4.041409
- Zhang, Y., Inder, T. E., Neil, J. J., Dierker, D. L., Alexopoulos, D., Anderson, P. J., & Van Essen, D. C. (2015). Cortical structural abnormalities in very preterm children at 7 years of age. *NeuroImage*, 109, 469–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.01.005
- Zwolan, T. A., Ashbaugh, C. M., Alarfaj, A., Kileny, P. R., Arts, H. A., El-Kashlan, H. K., & Telian, S. A. (2004). Pediatric cochlear implant patient performance as a function of age at implantation. *Otology & Neurotology*, 25(2), 112–120. https://doi.org/10.1097/00129492-200403000-00006